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About
the Company

Dollar Tree, Inc. is the World’s 

leading operator of $1 price-

point variety stores. The Company 

also offers value merchandise at prices above 

$1 at its 182 Deal$ stores and at prices 

of $1.25 (CAD) at its 99 stores in Canada.  

A Fortune 500 Company, Dollar Tree has 

served North America for more than twenty- 

five years. Our stores are bright, fun to  

shop, conveniently located, and offer an 

ever-changing assortment of merchandise at  

incredible values. 

Headquartered in Chesapeake, Virginia, 

DollarTree operates more than 4,300 stores 

across the 48 contiguous United States and 

five Canadian Provinces. Our stores are 

supported by a coast-to-coast logistics network 

and more than 70,000 associates. Dollar 

Tree continues to grow, and is reaching 

new customers via the Internet at 

www.dollartree.com .



2011 2010(a) 2009 2008 2007

(in millions, except store and per share data)

Net Sales $ 6,630.5 $ 5,882.4 $ 5,231.2 $ 4,644.9 $ 4,242.6

Gross Profit 2,378.3 2,087.6 1,856.8 1,592.2 1,461.1

Operating Income 782.1 630.0 512.8 365.8 330.3

Net Income 488.3 397.3 320.5 229.5 201.3

Diluted Net Income Per Share(b) 4.03 3.10 2.37 1.69 1.39

Working Capital $  628.4 $   800.4 $  829.7 $   663.3 $   382.9 

Total Assets 2,328.6 2,380.5 2,289.7 2,035.7 1,787.7

Total Debt 265.8 267.8 267.8 268.2 269.4

Shareholders’ Equity 1,344.6 1,459.0 1,429.2 1,253.2 988.4

Number of Stores Open 4,351 4,101 3,806 3,591 3,411

Total Selling Square Footage 37.6 35.1 32.3 30.3 28.4

Comparable Store Net Sales 
Increase(c) 6.0% 6.3% 7.2% 4.1% 2.7%

Average Net Sales Per Store(c) $    1.6 $  1.5 $     1.4 $      1.3 $    1.3 

(a) The Company recorded a non-recurring, non-cash charge to gross profit and a corresponding reduction in inventory, at cost, of $26.3 million in  
the first quarter 2010. Excluding this charge, diluted earnings per share in 2010 were $3.23. 

(b) Reflects 3 for 2 stock split in June 2010. 
(c) Comparable store net sales compare net sales for stores open throughout each of the two periods being compared. Net sales per store are 

calculated for stores open throughout the entire period presented.
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Bob Sasser
President and Chief Executive Officer

To Our 

Shareholders

Iam pleased to report that 2011 was another 
year of record results for Dollar Tree.

  Net sales were $6.63 billion; an increase of 12.7% 

over fiscal 2010. 

  Comparable-store sales increased 6.0% on top of a 

6.3% comparable-store sales increase last year.

  Earnings in fiscal 2011 increased to a record $4.03 

per diluted share compared with $3.10 earnings per 

diluted share in 2010. The 2010 result included a 

non-recurring, non-cash charge of $26.3 million, or 

$0.13 cents per share relating to a change in retail 

inventory accounting that was recorded in the first 

quarter 2010. Excluding the charge, earnings per 

diluted share in 2010 were $3.23, which was itself a 

36.3% increase over 2009 reported EPS of $2.37. 

  Operating margin was 11.8%, an increase of 70 bps 

compared with 2010, excluding the 2010 charge. 

Dollar Tree’s operating margin remains among the 

highest in the value retail sector.

  In addition, compared with last year excluding the 

charge in 2010, operating income increased by 

$125.8 million, 

  And net income rose 18.0%, to $488.3 million.

In addition, in 2011, Dollar Tree: 

  Expanded selling square footage 6.9%, opening 278 new 

stores, expanding or relocating 91 stores, providing new 

jobs and growth opportunities for our associates;

  Ended the year with 4,351 stores across 48 U.S. states and 

five Canadian Provinces;  

  Achieved the highest new store productivity since 2001;

  Increased inventory turns for the seventh consecutive year, 

to 4.22 turns in 2011 compared with 4.17 turns in 2010;

  Completed the expansion of our Distribution Center in 

Savannah, Georgia, on-time and on-budget, and

  Repurchased 8.7 million shares for $645.9 million.

These results reflect the underlying strength of our model, 

our infrastructure, our strategy and most importantly, the ded-

icated efforts of thousands of Dollar Tree associates across the 

United States and Canada.   

Performance based on a Solid Foundation
The success of Dollar Tree—as it has always been—is 

based on our focus on the customer. We aim our efforts at in-

creasing the “Wow” factor, providing high value merchandise, 

improving the quality of our shopping environment and pro-

viding the infrastructure that supports the business. 

Powerful, Flexible Sourcing Model

Dollar Tree has a powerful, flexible merchandising model 

and we use this strategy of ever-changing assortments to our 

advantage. Our assortments are planned to offer the greatest 

value to the customer for $1 and to do so at a cost that delivers 

acceptable merchandise margin.  

Reflecting the changing demands of the market, we have 

broadened our assortments to include more of the things 

people need everyday, in addition to seasonal and discretion-

ary merchandise. These “basic needs” items are faster-turning, 

broaden our appeal to more customers, drive traffic, help in-

crease sales across all categories and provide the opportunity 

to increase market share. This strategy has contributed to the 

growth of our sales, margins and earnings.   

To the customer, this means there is always something new 

at Dollar Tree. As customers strive to balance their budgets, they 

can find the high value basics they need while enjoying the “Thrill 

of the hunt” on every visit. Seasonal assortments are fresh, col-

orful and fun, providing merchandise energy in the stores. We 

have the flexibility to move quickly from item to item within our 

stores. This strategic advantage has been validated by results. 

History shows that we can remain relevant through inflationary 

and deflationary cycles by changing the product or changing the 

source while maintaining our focus on achieving margin targets 

and providing great value to our customers for their dollar. 

Retail Technology

Dollar Tree’s retail technology is tailored to our unique 

business model. This technology enables us to make “smarter” 
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The success of  

Dollar Tree —  

as it has always been  

— is based on our  

focus on the customer.

We aim our efforts at 

increasing the “Wow” 

factor, providing high 

value merchandise,  

improving the quality  

of our shopping  

environment and  

providing the  

infrastructure that  

supports the business.

allocations, flex our inventory to meet increasing customer demand, improve our in-

stock of basics, and optimize the flow of seasonal product to our stores, consistent with 

sales trends. This translates into a better customer experience, improved sell-through 

and increased inventory turns. 

Logistics

We have a solid and scalable logistics infrastructure to support our nationwide retail 

footprint, which we continually upgrade as we provide for sustained, profitable growth.  

In 2011, we expanded our Distribution Center in Savannah, Georgia to support 

growth in the Southeast. The 410,000 square foot expansion brought the Savannah 

facility to one million square feet. This project involved $19.8 million of capital invest-

ment, using existing cash. 

Our current network of nine Company-owned DC’s has the capacity to support 

$8 billion in annual sales in the United States. Our logistics infrastructure provides 

efficient service to our stores today, room for expansion and continuing asset leverage. 

Every new store that we open makes our network more efficient.  

As has been our practice, we intend to continue to add capacity strategically to sup-

port our growth ahead of the need. In this regard, we are currently finalizing plans to 

increase our distribution capacity in the Northeast U.S. by the end of 2013. 

Roadmap for the Future: Build New Dollar Tree Stores,
Increase Store Productivity, Develop New Platforms

New Dollar Tree Stores

Dollar Tree opened its first store in 1986. We have expanded every year since and 

our growth story continues. Ending the year with 4,351 stores, during 2011, we opened 

278 new stores and relocated and expanded 91 stores for a total of 369 projects with 

each averaging approximately 10,000 gross square feet. Our plan for 2012 includes 315 

new stores and 75 relocations for a total of 390 projects.

Increase Store Productivity

Along with expanding the number of stores, we are focused on operating better, more 

productive stores. Efforts are concentrated on optimum site-selection, on opening new stores 

earlier in the year and on right-sizing our stores at about 10,000 – 11,000 square feet, gross. 

We believe this to be our optimum size for a number of reasons. It is small enough to be 

convenient, but large enough to accommodate a broad assortment of merchandise, includ-

ing the growing selection of needs-based product we’ve added in recent years. Our stores 

today offer a compelling mix of things customers need and want—all for just a dollar. 

Average new store productivity increased once again in 2011, continuing a six-year trend.

Our expansion of frozen and refrigerated product continues. We installed freezers 

and coolers in 376 stores in 2011, including 125 new stores. Frozen and refrigerated 

product is now available in 2,220 stores. This product serves the current needs of our 

Customers, drives traffic into our stores and provides incremental sales across all cat-

egories—including our higher-margin discretionary product. In 2012, we intend to 

expand frozen and refrigerated capability to an additional 325 stores.

While we are growing our business through more stores, the development of new 

categories and more productive stores, we are also pursuing New Platforms for growth, 

including developing New Formats, adding New Channels of distribution and expanding 

our Geographic reach. 

Our Deal$ format extends our ability to serve more customers and increases our growth 

potential. Deal$ delivers low prices on everyday essentials, party, seasonal and home 

product. At Deal$, not everything’s $1, but everything is a value. Our goal is to sur-

prise and delight our customers with every visit. As we grow and refine Deal$, custom-

ers are responding favorably. By the end of 2011 we were operating 182 Deal$ stores 
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in 18 states. We are excited about the growth potential of the concept and the opportunity that 

it gives us to serve even more customers across the country. We added 28 new Deal$ stores in 

2011 and we plan to continue this growth rate in 2012.    

New Channels

Dollar Tree Direct, our e-commerce business, is an opportunity to drive direct sales, expand the 

brand and attract customers into our stores with the offer of free shipping for pick up in any of 

our stores across the country. We launched our e-commerce platform in early 2009. Since then, 

new customers have continued to discover value at Dollar Tree Direct. Traffic on the site grew 

to 14 million unique visitors in 2011, a 37% increase over last year.

In 2011, we made several enhancements to the site to expand our reach and to improve the 

customer experience.  

Dollar Tree Direct now offers customers the opportunity to purchase smaller quantities on 

over 600 online items, while continuing to offer more than 2,500 items for sale by the case.  

Dollar Tree Direct launched a Spanish language version of the website to serve this impor-

tant and growing customer base. 

Dollar Tree Direct is now available to mobile users. Customers can view the merchandise, 

read product ratings and reviews, make purchases, or utilize the Store Locator to find their 

nearest Dollar Tree store directly from their Smart phones or other mobile devices. 

Additionally in 2011 we launched Dollartreecanada.com and youtube/dollartree videos. 

The goal of Dollar Tree Direct is to bring Dollar Tree values to more people with the added 

convenience of e-commerce. I encourage you to explore the site at www.dollartree.com.

New Geographies

Our expansion into Canada is progressing. We initially entered the Canadian market in the 

fourth quarter of 2010, through the acquisition of Dollar Giant Stores—a chain of 86 stores 

averaging 9,000 gross square feet, located in British Columbia, Ontario, Alberta and Saskatch-

ewan. In 2011 we increased the store count by 15%, expanded into Manitoba and ended fiscal 

2011 with 99 stores in Canada. Each store offers a mix of things you want and things you need 

all priced at $1.25 (CAD) or less.

Our primary focus in 2011 was to lay the foundation for future, profitable growth in the 

Canadian market. We intend to operate our Canadian stores on an identical platform to the 

merchandising and productivity systems that support the stores in the U.S., and we have made 

great progress toward that goal in a short period of time. 

We have aligned merchandise plans and are solidifying our logistics model in Canada. We 

are now supplying product to our stores through Distribution Centers in British Columbia 

and Ontario. In addition, we have installed store-level POS and enterprise-level merchandising  

systems, providing increased visibility to sales and inventory. Equally important, a base of his-

torical data is now being built by store and sku—all key factors in the management of an efficient 

supply chain. We are beginning to roll out Auto Replenishment of basics and employing “smart” 

allocations of new and seasonal merchandise just as we do in the U.S. These systems provide a 

platform for an improved flow of merchandise to the stores on a timelier basis. The result is the 

opportunity for more efficient store operations, an increased level of in-stock of basic products, 

higher store productivity, increased inventory turns and, most importantly, improved customer 

satisfaction. 

In 2012, we intend to grow our Canadian store base approximately 25% under the Dollar 

Tree Canada brand. Over the longer term, we believe the Canadian market can support up to 

1,000 Dollar Tree stores. This is in addition to the 7,000 store potential for Dollar Tree in the 

United States plus growth in our Deal$ format.
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Corporate Governance and Shareholder Value
Dollar Tree has a long-standing commitment to responsible corporate governance and to building value for our long-

term shareholders.

Our Board of Directors is active, involved, and committed to responsible corporate governance. The majority of Board 

is comprised of independent directors, we have a lead independent director and all of the standing committees of the Board 

consist entirely of independent directors. The Board regularly reviews the Company’s governance practices and has made 

several changes in recent years. We maintain an open dialogue with shareholders on governance matters and we continue 

increasing our understanding of industry standards in corporate governance as they evolve. 

Above all, we believe in strict adherence to our core values of honesty, integrity and transparency in all aspects of 

our business. These values are reflected in the strength of our financial controls and in our relationships with customers,  

suppliers, associates, and our shareholders.

For 2011, we once again earned a “clean bill of health” with no material weakness noted in our assessment of controls 

supporting the accounting and reporting processes in compliance with the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley legislation. In 

2012, as I have stated in previous years, you can be assured that we will continue to operate Dollar Tree with an unwavering 

commitment to financial integrity and the related financial controls as a foundation for building long-term shareholder value.

Dollar Tree has consistently generated significant cash flow and has been a prudent manager of capital for the benefit 

of long-term shareholders. The best use of capital, in our view, is to support continued growth of the business at a sustain-

able pace. Beyond this, we have long believed that share repurchase is an effective use of excess free cash to create additional 

value for shareholders over the long-term. In 2011, we repurchased 8.7 million shares for $645.9 million. Altogether, since 

2004, the Company has invested approximately $2.2 billion for share repurchase without increasing long-term debt.

Summary
Dollar Tree associates can take pride in the fact that 2011 was another outstanding year for our Company and we are 

singularly positioned to do even better in the future. I see great opportunity ahead for Dollar Tree.

  Our stores, merchants and support teams are guided by a strategic vision that involves every element of the business 

revolving around the customer.  

  The business model is powerful and flexible—tested by time and validated by results. We have proven that Dollar Tree 

can adapt to a changing environment. Through good and bad economic times the Company has consistently increased 

sales and earnings and we have never been better positioned for continued growth and improvement.

  The balanced mix of high value consumer basics and the unique assortment of fun, seasonally-correct discretionary 

products positions Dollar Tree Stores to be relevant to customers in all economic circumstances. 

  We have a solid and scalable infrastructure that we are leveraging for better inventory management, increasingly 

efficient supply chain logistics, more productive stores, and crisper overall execution.  

  And there is more to come. There are plenty of opportunities to grow our business, through New Dollar Tree Stores, 

More productive Stores and Category expansion. We are developing New formats and New channels with Deal$ and 

Dollar Tree Direct, and we are expanding geographically, as Canada provides an opportunity for substantial growth. 

All of this provides a roadmap for sustained profitable growth.

Moreover, we understand that our people—more than 70,000 strong—are the key to everything the Company strives to 

accomplish. We make a concerted effort to attract and retain great people throughout the organization. The Company’s 

continued expansion challenges all associates to grow and develop new skills and provides additional employment oppor-

tunities for new associates. 

Dollar Tree is strong, growing and our values have never been higher. We have a vision of what we want to become, and 

the infrastructure, capital and people to make it happen. As I have said before, I truly believe that the best is yet to come! 

      

      Bob Sasser

      President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Delivering  
more value, 

one customer 
at a time.

Dollar Tree has expanded its store base 
every year since its founding in 1986 
and there is potential for sustained 

growth in the years ahead. In 2011, we opened 278 
new stores and relocated and expanded 91 more—a 
total of 369 projects representing a 6.9% increase in 
selling square footage. We ended the year with 4,351 
stores, compared with 4,101 at the end of 2010. We 
believe that we can eventually operate up to 7,000 
Dollar Tree stores in the U.S. alone. 

Our stores are supported by a solid and scalable 
infrastructure which we continually upgrade. In 
the Southeast, store growth was supported by an 
expansion of our Distribution Center in Savannah, 
Georgia, from its original size of 600,000 square feet 
to one million square feet. This project was completed 
on time and on budget using existing cash. As of the 
end of 2011, our logistics infrastructure can support 
sales up to $8 billion in the United States. As always, 
our plan is to add capacity strategically to support 
growth ahead of need.

 We also continue to streamline our supply chain, 
improve merchandise flow, and increase inventory 
turns, as enabled by our inventory management and 
supply chain systems. All of this positions Dollar Tree 
to continue to increase efficiency—and deliver more 
value—as our store base grows.

6   Dollar Tree, Inc.
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Number of Stores Open
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Stockton, California
 January 2000 (525,000 sq. ft.)

Marietta, Oklahoma
February 2003 (603,000 sq. ft.)

San Bernardino, California
April 2010 (448,000 sq. ft.) 

Ridgefield, 
Washington
February 2004 (665,000 sq. ft.)

Delta, British Columbia

Mississauga, Ontario

Joliet, Illinois
June 2004 (1,200,000 sq. ft.)

Briar Creek, 
Pennsylvania
August 2001 
(1,003,000 sq. ft.)

Chesapeake, 
Virginia
January 1998  
(400,000 sq. ft. )

Savannah, 
Georgia
February 2001 
(1,014,000 sq. ft.)

Olive Branch, 
Mississippi
January 1999 
(425,000 sq. ft.)

U.S. Distribution Centers
Date opened (square footage)

Third-Party Canadian  
Distribution Centers

Port of Entry
(non-U.S.-sourced products)

Shading indicates service area  
for each distribution center. 

Dollar Tree’s Solid,  
Scalable Infrastructure
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Balanced Assortment
Things you want – Things you need

Consumer Basics 50.8%
Variety/Seasonal 49.2%
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Increasing 
productivity, 

one aisle 
at a time.

Dollar Tree is not only opening more 
stores; we are also working to make 
each store more productive. New 

stores in 2011 reached the highest productivity level 
in ten years driven by improved site selection, right-
sizing our stores to the market, opening new stores 
earlier in the year, executing more powerful Grand 
Openings, and building the bench of qualified store 
management.

Also essential to productivity, for both new 
and existing stores, is broadening assortments and 
emphasizing and expanding the most productive 
categories of merchandise. 

For instance, our expansion of frozen and 
refrigerated products continues—driving traffic and 
incremental sales across many categories, including 
housewares, food, beverages, toys, party supplies,  
health and beauty aids, stationery, books, electronics, 
and household cleaning supplies.

Our broad and balanced assortments also make 
for more productive and enjoyable shopping trips for 
our customers—they can find the things they want 
and the things they need in a bright, convenient store. 
In every aisle, and in every season, an ever-changing 
assortment lets our customers discover real value, and 
enables our stores to reach higher levels of productivity.
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Reaching more  
customers, 

oneinnovation 
at a time.

Akey component of Dollar Tree’s 
growth strategy is constant re-inven-
tion, particularly in the development 

of new ways to bring more value to a broader range 
of customers.

Dollar Tree Direct, our e-commerce website, 
was launched in early 2009 as a way to offer our 
value to more customers, including organizations, 
small businesses, and individual customers planning 
events. During 2011, a year that saw site traffic grow 
to more than 14 million unique visitors, we enhanced 
the platform to include a mobile version, giving 
customers access to our site directly from their smart 
phones. We also launched a Spanish version of the site 
and created a YouTube channel for Dollar Tree videos.

Deal$, our multi-price format, continued its 
growth during 2011—we added 28 new Deal$ stores, 
ending the year with 182 of these stores where not 
everything is a dollar, but everything is a value.

We also continued our expansion into Canada 
during 2011, increasing store count by about 15% for  
a year-end total of 99 stores and laying the foundation 
of infrastructure to support more aggressive growth in 
future years. In the long run, we believe this market 
can support up to 1,000 Dollar Tree Canada stores.

10   Dollar Tree, Inc.
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Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return*
Among Dollar Tree, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index, S&P Retailing Index and S&P 500
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Building value, 

one day 
at a time.

Day by day, and year after year, Dollar 
Tree strives to build value for our 
customers, associates, communities, 

and shareholders.
We help customers stretch their monthly house-

hold budgets by providing quality merchandise 
at great values in a bright, convenient shopping 
environment. For our associates, we are committed 
to a culture that values everyone’s contributions, 
that treats one and all with respect, and encourages 
professional development. Our consistent growth 
has resulted in the creation of thousands of jobs and 
advancement opportunities. The communities where 
our stores operate enjoy a wide variety of economic 
development and charitable benefits.

We strive to build value for our shareholders in 
many ways. In addition to consistent growth in sales 
and earnings, we believe that share repurchase can also 
contribute to long-term value. In 2011, we repurchased 
8.7 million shares for $645.9 million. Altogether, since 
2004, we have invested approximately $2.2 billion for 
share repurchase without increasing long-term debt.

Dollar Tree’s commitment to sustainability is 
critical to how we bring value to all our stakeholders; 
during 2011, we added to our website a consolidated 
source for information about Dollar Tree’s operations 
as they relate to environmental issues, social impact, 
and corporate governance. 
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A WARNING ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING 

STATEMENTS: This document contains “forward-
looking statements” as that term is used in the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-
looking statements address future events, developments 
and results. They include statements preceded by, 
followed by or including words such as “believe,”   
“anticipate,”  “expect,”  “intend,”  “plan,”  “view,”  “target”  
or “estimate.” For example, our forward-looking  
statements include statements regarding: 

•  our anticipated sales, including comparable store net 
sales, net sales growth and earnings growth;

•  costs of pending and possible future legal claims;
•  our growth plans, including our plans to add, expand 

or relocate stores, our anticipated square footage 
increase and our ability to renew leases at existing 
store locations;

•  the average size of our stores to be added in 2012 
and beyond;

•  the effect of a shift in merchandise mix to consumables 
and the increase in the number of our stores with 
freezers and coolers on gross profit margin and sales;

•  the net sales per square foot, net sales and operating 
income of our stores and store-level cash payback 
metrics;

•  the potential effect of the current economic down-
turn, inflation and other economic changes on our 
costs and profitability, including the potential effect 
of future changes in minimum wage rates, shipping 
rates, domestic and import freight costs, fuel costs 
and wage and benefit costs;

•  our gross profit margin, earnings, inventory levels 
and ability to leverage selling, general and adminis-
trative and other fixed costs;

•  our seasonal sales patterns including those relating 
to the length of the holiday selling seasons and the 
effect of an earlier Easter in 2012;

•  the capabilities of our inventory supply chain 
technology and other systems;

•  the reliability of, and cost associated with, our 
sources of supply, particularly imported goods such 
as those sourced from China;

•  the capacity, performance and cost of our distribution 
centers;

•  our cash needs, including our ability to fund our 
future capital expenditures and working capital 
requirements;

•  our expectations regarding competition and growth 
in our retail sector; and

•  management’s estimates associated with our critical 
accounting policies, including inventory valuation, 
accrued expenses and income taxes.

For a discussion of the risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that could affect our future events, develop-
ments or results, you should carefully review the risk 
factors summarized below and the more detailed discus-
sion in the “Risk Factors” and “Business” sections in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2012. 
Also see our “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. 

•  Our profitability is vulnerable to cost increases.
•  Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial 

condition and results of operations.
•  Changes in federal, state or local law, or our failure to 

comply with such laws, could increase our expenses 
and expose us to legal risks.

•  Our growth is dependent on our ability to increase 
sales in existing stores and to expand our square 
footage profitably.

•  Risks associated with our domestic and foreign 
suppliers from whom our products are sourced could 
affect our financial performance.

•  We could encounter disruptions in our distribu-
tion network or additional costs in distributing 
merchandise.

•  A downturn in economic conditions could impact 
our sales.

•  Our profitability is affected by the mix of products 
we sell.

•  Pressure from competitors may reduce our sales and 
profits.

•  A significant disruption in or security breach in our 
computer systems could adversely affect our opera-
tions or our ability to secure customer, employee and 
company data.

•  Our business could be adversely affected if we fail 
to attract and retain qualified associates and key 
personnel.

•  Certain provisions in our Articles of Incorporations 
and Bylaws could delay or discourage a takeover 
attempt that may be in a shareholder’s best interest.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION  

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In Management’s Discussion and Analysis, we explain the 
general financial condition and the results of operations 
for our company, including:

•  what factors affect our business;
•  what our net sales, earnings, gross margins and costs 

were in 2011, 2010 and 2009;
•  why those net sales, earnings, gross margins and 

costs were different from the year before;
•  how all of this affects our overall financial condition;
•  what our expenditures for capital projects were in 

2011 and 2010 and what we expect them to be in 
2012; and

•  where funds will come from to pay for future 
expenditures.

As you read Management’s Discussion and Analysis, 
please refer to our consolidated financial statements, 
included in this Annual Report, which present the results 
of operations for the fiscal years ended January 28, 2012, 
January 29, 2011 and January 30, 2010. In Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, we analyze and explain the 
annual changes in some specific line items in the consoli-
dated financial statements for fiscal year 2011 compared 
to fiscal year 2010 and for fiscal year 2010 compared to 
fiscal year 2009.

Our forward-looking statements could be wrong in 
light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The 
future events, developments or results described in this 
report could turn out to be materially different. We have 
no obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-
looking statements after the date of this annual report 
and you should not expect us to do so.

Investors should also be aware that while we do, 
from time to time, communicate with securities analysts 
and others, it is against our policy to selectively disclose 
to them any material, nonpublic information or other 
confidential commercial information. Accordingly, 
shareholders should not assume that we agree with 
any statement or report issued by any securities analyst 
regardless of the content of the statement or report as 
we have a policy against confirming information issued 
by others. Thus, to the extent that reports issued by 
securities analysts contain any projections, forecasts or 
opinions, such reports are not our responsibility.

INTRODUCTORY NOTE: Unless otherwise stated, 
references to “we,”  “our” and “Dollar Tree” generally 
refer to Dollar Tree, Inc. and its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Unless specifically 
indicated otherwise, any references to “2012” or “fiscal 
2012”, “2011” or “fiscal 2011”, “2010” or “fiscal 2010”, and 
“2009” or “fiscal 2009”, relate to as of or for the years 
ended February 2, 2013, January 28, 2012, January 29, 
2011 and January 30, 2010, respectively.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amend-
ments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act are 
available free of charge on our website at www.dollartree.
com as soon as reasonably practicable after electronic 
filing of such reports with the SEC.
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Overview 

Our net sales are derived from the sale of merchandise. 
Two major factors tend to affect our net sales trends. 
First is our success at opening new stores or adding new 
stores through acquisitions. Second, sales vary at our 
existing stores from one year to the next. We refer to this 
change as a change in comparable store net sales, because 
we compare only those stores that are open throughout 
both of the periods being compared. We include sales 
from stores expanded during the year in the calculation 
of comparable store net sales, which has the effect of 
increasing our comparable store net sales.  The term 
‘expanded’ also includes stores that are relocated. 

At January 28, 2012, we operated 4,351 stores in 
48 states and the District of Columbia, as well as the 
Canadian provinces of British Columbia, Ontario, 
Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, with 37.6 million 
selling square feet compared to 4,101 stores with 35.1 
million selling square feet at January 29, 2011. During 
fiscal 2011, we opened 278 stores, expanded 91 stores and 
closed 28 stores, compared to 235 new stores opened, 95 
stores expanded, 86 stores acquired and 26 stores closed 
during fiscal 2010. In the current year we increased our 
selling square footage by 6.9%. Of the 2.4 million selling 
square foot increase in 2011, 0.3 million was added by 
expanding existing stores. The average size of our stores 
opened in 2011 was approximately 8,360 selling square 
feet (or about 10,280 gross square feet). For 2012, we 
continue to plan to open stores that are approximately 
8,000–10,000 selling square feet (or about 10,000–
12,000 gross square feet). We believe that this store size is 
our optimal size operationally and that this size also gives 
our customers an ideal shopping environment that invites 
them to shop longer and buy more. 

In fiscal 2011, comparable store net sales increased 
by 6.0%. The comparable store net sales increase was 
the result of a 4.8% increase in the number of transac-
tions and a 1.2% increase in average ticket. We believe 
comparable store net sales continued to be positively 
affected by a number of our initiatives, as debit and 
credit card penetration continued to increase in 2011, 
and we continued the roll-out of frozen and refrigerated 
merchandise to more of our stores. At January 28, 2012 
we had frozen and refrigerated merchandise in approxi-
mately 2,220 stores compared to approximately 1,840 
stores at January 29, 2011. We believe that the addition 
of frozen and refrigerated product enables us to increase 

Key Events and Recent Developments

Several key events have had or are expected to have a 
significant effect on our operations. You should keep in 
mind that:

•  On October 7, 2011, our Board of Directors autho-
rized the repurchase of an additional $1.5 billion 
of our common stock. At January 28, 2012, we had 
approximately $1.2 billion remaining under Board 
authorizations. 

•  On October 7, 2011, we completed a 410,000 
square foot expansion of our distribution center 
in Savannah, Georgia. The Savannah distribution 
center is now a 1,014,000 square foot, fully auto-
mated facility. 

•  On November 15, 2010, we completed our 
acquisition of 86 Dollar Giant stores, located in the 
Canadian provinces of British Columbia, Ontario, 
Alberta and Saskatchewan and we have since opened 
a store in Manitoba. These stores offer a wide assort-
ment of quality general merchandise, contemporary 
seasonal goods and everyday consumables, all priced 
at $1.25 (CAD) or less. This is our first expansion of 
retail operations outside of the United States.

•  We assign cost to store inventories using the retail 
inventory method, determined on a weighted average 
cost basis. From our inception and through fiscal 
2009, we used one inventory pool for this calcula-
tion. Because of our investments over the years in our 
retail technology systems, we were able to refine our 
estimate of inventory cost under the retail method 
and on January 31, 2010, the first day of fiscal 2010, 
we began using approximately 30 inventory pools 
in our retail inventory calculation. As a result of 
this change, we recorded a non-recurring, non-cash 
charge to gross profit and a corresponding reduction 
in inventory, at cost, of $26.3 million in the first 
quarter of 2010. This was a prospective change and 
did not have any effect on prior periods. 

•  On November 2, 2009, we purchased a new distribu-
tion center in San Bernardino, California. This new 
distribution center replaced our Salt Lake City, Utah 
leased facility whose lease ended in April 2010. 

•  On February 20, 2008, we entered into a five-year 
$550.0 million unsecured Credit Agreement (the 
Agreement). The Agreement provides for a $300.0 
million revolving line of credit, including up to 
$150.0 million in available letters of credit, and a 
$250.0 million term loan. The interest rate on the 
facility is based, at our option, on a LIBOR rate, plus 
a margin, or an alternate base rate, plus a margin. 
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and improve our merchandise allocation to our stores. 
We believe that this has enabled us to better manage our 
inventory flow resulting in more efficient distribution and 
store operations and increased inventory turnover for 
each of the last five years. 

In 2007, legislation was enacted that increased the 
Federal Minimum Wage. The last increase to $7.25 an 
hour was effective in July 2009. As a result, our wages 
increased in the third quarter of 2009 through the first 
half of 2010 compared with the comparable period in the 
prior year; however, we offset the increase in payroll costs 
through increased productivity and continued efficiencies 
in product flow to our stores.

We must continue to control our merchandise costs, 
inventory levels and our general and administrative 
expenses as increases in these line items could negatively 
impact our operating results.

sales and earnings by increasing the number of shopping 
trips made by our customers. In addition, we accept food 
stamps (under the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 
Program (“SNAP”)) in approximately 3,860 qualified 
stores compared to 3,500 at the end of 2010. 

With the pressures of the current economic 
environment, we have seen continued demand for basic, 
consumable products in 2011. As a result, we have 
continued to shift the mix of inventory carried in our 
stores to more consumer product merchandise which we 
believe increases the traffic in our stores and has helped 
to increase our sales even during the current economic 
downturn. While this shift in mix has impacted our 
merchandise costs we were able to offset that impact in 
the current year with decreased costs for merchandise in 
many of our categories.

Our point-of-sale technology provides us with valu-
able sales and inventory information to assist our buyers 

Results of Operations 

The following table expresses items from our consolidated statements of operations, as a percentage of net sales. On 
January 31, 2010, the first day of fiscal 2010, we began using approximately 30 inventory pools in our retail inventory 
calculation, rather than one inventory pool as we had done since our inception. As a result of this change, we recorded 
a non-recurring, non-cash charge to gross profit and a corresponding reduction in inventory, at cost, of $26.3 million in 
the first quarter of 2010.

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010 

Net sales   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%

Cost of sales, excluding non-cash beginning  
inventory adjustment   64.1%   64.1%   64.5%

Non-cash beginning inventory adjustment   0.0%   0.4%   0.0%

 Gross profit   35.9%   35.5%   35.5%

Selling, general and administrative expenses   24.1%   24.8%   25.7%

 Operating income   11.8%   10.7%   9.8%

Interest expense, net —    (0.1%)    (0.1%)

Other income, net —    0.1% —

 Income before income taxes   11.8%   10.7%   9.7%

Provision for income taxes    (4.4%)    (3.9%)    (3.6%)

 Net income   7.4%   6.8%   6.1%
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Fiscal year ended January 28, 2012 compared to  

fiscal year ended January 29, 2011

Net Sales. Net sales increased 12.7%, or $748.0 million, 
in 2011 compared to 2010, resulting from sales in our new 
stores and a 6.0% increase in comparable store net sales. 
Comparable store net sales are positively affected by our 
expanded and relocated stores, which we include in the 
calculation, and, to a lesser extent, are negatively affected 
when we open new stores or expand stores near existing ones.

The following table summarizes the components 
of the changes in our store count for fiscal years ended 
January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011.

January 28,  

2012

January 29,  
2011

New stores  278 235

Acquired stores — 86

Expanded or 
relocated stores 91 95

Closed stores (28) (26)

Of the 2.4 million selling square foot increase in 
2011 approximately 0.3 million was added by expanding 
existing stores.

•  Gross profit margin was 35.9% in 2011 compared 
to 35.5% in 2010. Excluding the effect of the $26.3 
million non-cash beginning inventory adjustment, 
gross profit margin remained at 35.9%. Improvement 
in initial mark-up in many categories and occupancy 
and distribution cost leverage were offset by an 
increase in the mix of higher cost consumer product 
merchandise and a smaller reduction in the shrink 
accrual rate in fiscal 2011 than in fiscal 2010.
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, 
general and administrative expenses, as a percentage 
of net sales, decreased to 24.1% for 2011 compared to 
24.8% for 2010. The decrease is primarily due to the 
following:

•  Payroll expenses decreased 45 basis points due to 
leveraging associated with the increase in comparable 
store net sales in the current year, lower store 
hourly payroll and lower incentive compensation 
achievement.

•  Depreciation decreased 25 basis points primarily 
due to the leveraging associated with the increase in 
comparable store net sales in the current year.

Operating Income. Operating income margin was 11.8% 
in 2011 compared to 10.7% in 2010. Excluding the $26.3 
million non-cash adjustment to beginning inventory, 
operating income margin was 11.1% in 2010. Due to the 
reasons noted above, operating income margin excluding 
this charge, improved 70 basis points.

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 37.4% in 2011 
and 36.9% in 2010.
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•  Shrink costs decreased 15 basis points due to 
improved shrink results in the current year and 
a lower shrink accrual rate during fiscal 2010 
compared to fiscal 2009.

•  Merchandise costs, including freight, increased 15 
basis points due primarily to higher import and 
domestic freight costs during fiscal 2010 compared 
to fiscal 2009.

 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, 
general and administrative expenses, as a percentage 
of net sales, decreased to 24.8% for 2010 compared to 
25.7% for 2009. The decrease is primarily due to the 
following: 

•  Payroll expenses decreased 45 basis points due to 
leveraging associated with the increase in comparable 
store net sales in the current year and lower store 
hourly payroll.

•  Depreciation decreased 30 basis points primarily 
due to the leveraging associated with the increase in 
comparable store net sales in the current year.

•  Store operating costs decreased 20 basis points 
primarily as a result of lower utility costs as a 
percentage of sales, due to lower rates in the current 
year and the leveraging from the comparable store 
net sales increase in 2010. 

 
Operating Income. Operating income margin was 10.7% 
in 2010 compared to 9.8% in 2009. Excluding the $26.3 
million non-cash adjustment to beginning inventory, 
operating income margin was 11.1%. Due to the reasons 
noted above, operating income margin, excluding this 
charge, improved 130 basis points.

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 36.9% in 2010 
and 2009.

Fiscal year ended January 29, 2011 compared to  

fiscal year ended January 30, 2010

Net Sales. Net sales increased 12.4%, or $651.2 million, 
in 2010 compared to 2009, resulting from a 6.3% 
increase in comparable store net sales and sales in our 
new stores. Comparable store net sales are positively 
affected by our expanded and relocated stores, which 
we include in the calculation, and, to a lesser extent, are 
negatively affected when we open new stores or expand 
stores near existing ones.

The following table summarizes the components 
of the changes in our store count for fiscal years ended 
January 29, 2011 and January 30, 2010.

 
January 29, 

2011

January 30,  
2010

New stores 235 240

Acquired stores 86 —

Expanded or 
relocated stores 95 75

Closed stores (26) (25)

Of the 2.9 million selling square foot increase in 
2010, approximately 0.4 million was added by expanding 
existing stores and 0.7 million was the result of the 
acquisition of the Dollar Giant stores. 

Gross profit margin was 35.5% in 2010 and 2009. 
Excluding the effect of the $26.3 million non-cash 
beginning inventory adjustment, gross profit margin 
increased to 35.9%. This increase was due to the net of 
the following:

•  Occupancy and distribution costs decreased 30 
basis points in the current year resulting from the 
leveraging of the comparable store sales increase.
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Net cash used in investing activities increased $161.6 
million in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to 
short-term investment activity and the Dollar Giant 
acquisition. In 2010 we purchased $157.8 million of 
short-term investments compared to $27.8 million in 
2009. This was partially offset by an increase in proceeds 
from the sales of short-term investments of $10.8 million 
in 2010.

In 2011, net cash used in financing activities 
increased $218.9 million as a result of increased share 
repurchases in 2011.

In 2010, net cash used in financing activities 
increased $243.0 million as a result of increased share 
repurchases in 2010 and payments of $13.8 million for 
debt acquired from Dollar Giant.

At January 28, 2012, our long-term borrowings were 
$265.5 million and our capital lease commitments were 
$0.3 million. We also have $110.0 million and $75.0 
million Letter of Credit Reimbursement and Security 
Agreements, under which approximately $139.5 million 
were committed to letters of credit issued for routine 
purchases of imported merchandise at January 28, 2012. 

In February 2008, we entered into a five-year $550.0 
million unsecured Credit Agreement (the Agreement). 

Net cash provided by operating activities increased 
$167.8 million in 2011 compared to 2010 due to 
increased earnings before income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization in the current year, a decrease in cash used 
to purchase merchandise inventories and an increase 
in other current liabilities due to increases in sales tax 
collected and accrued expenses. 

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased 
$62.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 due to an 
increase in cash used to purchase merchandise invento-
ries partially offset by increased earnings before income 
taxes, depreciation and amortization in the current year. 

Net cash used in investing activities decreased 
$288.0 million in 2011 primarily due to an additional 
$170.0 million of proceeds from the sale of short-term 
investments with minimal purchases of short-term 
investments compared to $157.8 million of purchases 
in 2010. The proceeds were used to fund the share 
repurchases in 2011. In addition, in 2010 we used $49.4 
million to acquire Dollar Giant. These increased sources 
of cash were partially offset by a $71.4 million increase in 
capital expenditures in 2011 due to funds for new store 
projects and the expansion of our distribution center in 
Savannah, Georgia.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our business requires capital to build and open new stores, expand our distribution network and operate and expand 
existing stores. Our working capital requirements for existing stores are seasonal and usually reach their peak in 
September and October. Historically, we have satisfied our seasonal working capital requirements for existing stores 
and have funded our store opening and distribution network expansion programs from internally generated funds and 
borrowings under our credit facilities.

The following table compares cash-flow related information for the years ended January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 
and January 30, 2010:

Year Ended 

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010

Net cash provided by (used in):

 Operating activities  $ 686.5  $ 518.7  $ 581.0 

 Investing activities   (86.1)   (374.1)   (212.5)

 Financing activities   (623.2)   (404.3)   (161.3)
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maintenance of certain specified financial ratios, restricts 
the payment of certain distributions and prohibits the 
incurrence of certain new indebtedness. As of January 28, 
2012, the $250.0 million term loan is outstanding under 
the Agreement and there were no amounts outstanding 
under the $300.0 million revolving line of credit.

We repurchased 8.7 million shares for $645.9 
million in fiscal 2011. We repurchased 9.3 million shares 
for $414.7 million in fiscal 2010. We repurchased 6.4 
million shares for $193.1 million in fiscal 2009. At 
January 28, 2012, we have $1.2 billion remaining under 
Board authorization. 

The Agreement provides for a $300.0 million revolving 
line of credit, including up to $150.0 million in available 
letters of credit, and a $250.0 million term loan. The 
interest rate on the Agreement is based, at our option, 
on a LIBOR rate, plus a margin, or an alternate base 
rate, plus a margin. The revolving line of credit also bears 
a facilities fee, calculated as a percentage, as defined, of 
the amount available under the line of credit, payable 
quarterly. The term loan is due and payable in full at the 
five year maturity date of the Agreement. The Agreement 
also bears an administrative fee payable annually. 
The Agreement, among other things, requires the 
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Funding Requirements 

Overview, Including Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We expect our cash needs for opening new stores and expanding existing stores in fiscal 2012 to total approximately 
$205.9 million, which includes capital expenditures, initial inventory and pre-opening costs. 

Our estimated capital expenditures for fiscal 2012 are between $330.0 and $340.0 million, including planned expendi-
tures for our new and expanded stores, the addition of freezers and coolers to approximately 325 stores and approximately 
$80.0 million to construct a new distribution center in the Northeast United States. We believe that we can adequately fund 
our working capital requirements and planned capital expenditures for the next few years from net cash provided by opera-
tions and potential borrowings under our existing credit facility. 

The following tables summarize our material contractual obligations at January 28, 2012, including both on- and 
off-balance sheet arrangements, and our commitments, including interest on long-term borrowings (in millions):

Contractual Obligations Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

Lease Financing

Operating lease obligations  $ 1,929.0  $ 452.9  $ 401.1  $ 337.5  $ 264.4  $ 182.1  $ 291.0

Capital lease obligations   0.3   0.3   —   — — — —

Long-term Borrowings 

Credit Agreement   250.0 —   250.0 — — — —

Revenue bond financing   15.5   15.5 — — — —  —

Interest on long-term borrowings   2.1   1.9   0.2 — — — —

 Total obligations  $ 2,196.9  $ 470.6  $ 651.3  $ 337.5  $ 264.4  $ 182.1  $ 291.0

Commitments

 

Total

Expiring  

in 2012

Expiring  

in 2013

Expiring  

in 2014

Expiring  

in 2015

Expiring  

in 2016

 

Thereafter

Letters of credit and surety bonds   $ 170.7   $ 170.7   $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —

Freight contracts   222.3   143.3   58.6   20.4   —   —   —

Technology assets   8.9   8.9   —   —   —   —   —

Telecom contracts   3.3   —   —   3.3   —   —   —

 Total commitments  $ 405.2  $ 322.9  $ 58.6  $ 23.7  $ —  $ —  $ —
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be fully repaid in June 2018. The bonds do not have a 
prepayment penalty as long as the interest rate remains 
variable. The bonds contain a demand provision and, 
therefore, outstanding amounts are classified as current 
liabilities. We pay interest monthly based on a variable 
interest rate, which was 0.27% at January 28, 2012.

Interest on Long-term Borrowings. This amount 
represents interest payments on the Credit Agreement 
and the revenue bond financing using the interest rates 
for each at January 28, 2012.

Commitments

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds. We are a party 
to two Letter of Credit Reimbursement and Security 
Agreements, one which provides $110.0 million for 
letters of credit and one which provides $75.0 million 
for letters of credit. Letters of credit are generally issued 
for the routine purchase of imported merchandise and 
we had approximately $139.5 million of purchases 
committed under these letters of credit at January 28, 2012. 

We also have approximately $28.7 million of letters 
of credit and $2.5 million of surety bonds outstanding 
for our self-insurance programs and certain utility 
payment obligations at some of our stores.

Freight Contracts. We have contracted outbound freight 
services from various carriers with contracts expiring 
through fiscal 2014. The total amount of these commit-
ments is approximately $222.3 million. 

Technology Assets. We have commitments totaling 
approximately $8.9 million to primarily purchase store 
technology assets for our stores during 2012.

Telecom Contracts. We have contracted for telecom-
munication services with contracts expiring in 2014.  
The total amount of these commitments is approximately 
$3.3 million. 

Lease Financing

Operating Lease Obligations. Our operating lease obliga-
tions are primarily for payments under noncancelable 
store leases. The commitment includes amounts for leases 
that were signed prior to January 28, 2012 for stores that 
were not yet open on January 28, 2012.

Long-term Borrowings

Credit Agreement. In February 2008, we entered into a 
five-year $550.0 million unsecured Credit Agreement (the 
Agreement). The Agreement provides for a $300.0 million 
revolving line of credit, including up to $150.0 million 
in available letters of credit, and a $250.0 million term 
loan. The interest rate on the facility will be based, at our 
option, on a LIBOR rate, plus a margin, or an alternate 
base rate, plus a margin. The interest rate on the facility 
was 0.77% at January 28, 2012. The revolving line of 
credit also bears a facilities fee, calculated as a percentage, 
as defined, of the amount available under the line of 
credit, payable quarterly. The term loan is due and payable 
in full at the five year maturity date of the Agreement. The 
Agreement also bears an administrative fee payable annu-
ally. The Agreement, among other things, requires the 
maintenance of certain specified financial ratios, restricts 
the payment of certain distributions and prohibits the 
incurrence of certain new indebtedness. As of January 28, 
2012, we had the $250.0 million term loan outstanding 
under the Agreement and no amounts outstanding under 
the $300.0 million revolving line of credit.

Revenue Bond Financing. In May 1998, we entered 
into an agreement with the Mississippi Business Finance 
Corporation under which it issued $19.0 million of vari-
able-rate demand revenue bonds. We used the proceeds 
from the bonds to finance the acquisition, construction 
and installation of land, buildings, machinery and 
equipment for our distribution facility in Olive Branch, 
Mississippi. At January 28, 2012, the balance outstanding 
on the bonds was $15.5 million. These bonds are due to 
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a result of this change, we recorded a non-recurring, non-
cash charge to gross profit and a corresponding reduction 
in inventory, at cost, of approximately $26.3 million in 
the first quarter of 2010. The retail inventory method 
is an averaging method that is widely used in the retail 
industry and results in valuing inventories at lower of 
cost or market when markdowns are taken as a reduction 
of the retail value of inventories on a timely basis.

Inventory valuation methods require certain signifi-
cant management estimates and judgments, including 
estimates of future merchandise markdowns and shrink, 
which significantly affect the ending inventory valuation 
at cost as well as the resulting gross margins. The aver-
aging required in applying the retail inventory method 
and the estimates of shrink and markdowns could, under 
certain circumstances, result in costs not being recorded 
in the proper period.

We estimate our markdown reserve based on the 
consideration of a variety of factors, including, but not 
limited to, quantities of slow moving or seasonal, carryover 
merchandise on hand, historical markdown statistics and 
future merchandising plans. The accuracy of our estimates 
can be affected by many factors, some of which are outside 
of our control, including changes in economic conditions 
and consumer buying trends. Historically, we have not 
experienced significant differences in our estimated reserve 
for markdowns compared with actual results.

Our accrual for shrink is based on the actual, histor-
ical shrink results of our most recent physical inventories 
adjusted, if necessary, for current economic conditions 
and business trends. These estimates are compared to 
actual results as physical inventory counts are taken and 
reconciled to the general ledger. Our physical inven-
tory counts are generally taken between January and 
September of each year; therefore, the shrink accrual 
recorded at January 28, 2012 is based on estimated 
shrink for most of 2011, including the fourth quarter. We 
have not experienced significant fluctuations in historical 
shrink rates beyond approximately 10-20 basis points in 
our Dollar Tree stores for the last few years. However, we 
have sometimes experienced higher than typical shrink in 
acquired stores in the year following an acquisition. We 
periodically adjust our shrink estimates to address these 
factors as they become apparent. 

Our management believes that our application of the 
retail inventory method results in an inventory valuation 
that reasonably approximates cost and results in carrying 
inventory at the lower of cost or market each year on a 
consistent basis.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In March 2008, we entered into two $75.0 million 
interest rate swap agreements. These interest rate swaps 
were used to manage the risk associated with interest 
rate fluctuations on a portion of our $250.0 million 
variable rate term loan. Under these agreements, we paid 
interest to financial institutions at a fixed rate of 2.8%. In 
exchange, the financial institutions paid us at a variable 
rate, which approximated the variable rate on the debt, 
excluding the credit spread. These swaps qualified for 
hedge accounting treatment and expired in March 2011. 

In 2011, we were party to fuel derivative contracts 
with third parties which included approximately 3.5 
million gallons of diesel fuel, or approximately 31% of our 
domestic truckload fuel needs. These derivative contracts 
do not qualify for hedge accounting and therefore all 
changes in fair value for these derivatives are included in 
earnings. We currently have fuel derivative contracts to 
hedge 2.8 million gallons of diesel fuel, or approximately 
41% of our domestic truckload fuel needs from February 
2012 through July 2012 and 0.5 million gallons of diesel 
fuel, or approximately 16% of our domestic truckload fuel 
needs from August 2012 through October 2012.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements requires the use 
of estimates. Certain of our estimates require a high level 
of judgment and have the potential to have a material 
effect on the financial statements if actual results vary 
significantly from those estimates. Following is a discus-
sion of the estimates that we consider critical.

Inventory Valuation

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, inventories at the distribution centers 
are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost 
determined on a weighted-average basis. Cost is assigned 
to store inventories using the retail inventory method 
on a weighted-average basis. Under the retail inven-
tory method, the valuation of inventories at cost and 
the resulting gross margins are computed by applying 
a calculated cost-to-retail ratio to the retail value of 
inventories. From our inception and through fiscal 2009, 
we used one inventory pool for this calculation. Because 
of our investments over the years in our retail technology 
systems, we were able to refine our estimate of inventory 
cost under the retail method and on January 31, 2010, 
the first day of fiscal 2010, we began using approximately 
30 inventory pools in our retail inventory calculation. As 
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more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained 
on examination and, if so, judgment is also required as to 
the measurement of the amount of tax benefit that will 
be realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. 
Income tax expense is adjusted in the period in which 
new information about a tax position becomes available 
or the final outcome differs from the amounts recorded. 
We believe that our liability for uncertain tax positions 
is adequate. For further discussion of our changes in 
reserves during 2011, see Note 3 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

 
Seasonality and Quarterly Fluctuations

We experience seasonal fluctuations in our net sales, 
comparable store net sales, operating income and net 
income and expect this trend to continue. Our results of 
operations may also fluctuate significantly as a result of a 
variety of factors, including:

•  shifts in the timing of certain holidays, especially 
Easter;

•  the timing of new store openings;
•  the net sales contributed by new stores;
•  changes in our merchandise mix; and
• competition.

Our highest sales periods are the Christmas and 
Easter seasons. Easter was observed on April 4, 2010, 
April 24, 2011, and will be observed on April 8, 2012. 
We believe that the earlier Easter in 2012 could result 
in an $8.0 million decrease in sales in the first quarter 
of 2012 as compared to the first quarter of 2011. We 
generally realize a disproportionate amount of our net 
sales and of our operating and net income during the 
fourth quarter. In anticipation of increased sales activity 
during these months, we purchase substantial amounts 
of inventory and hire a significant number of temporary 
employees to supplement our continuing store staff. Our 
operating results, particularly operating and net income, 
could suffer if our net sales were below seasonal norms 
during the fourth quarter or during the Easter season for 
any reason, including merchandise delivery delays due to 
receiving or distribution problems, changes in consumer 
sentiment or inclement weather. 

Our unaudited results of operations for the eight 
most recent quarters are shown in a table in Note 11 of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accrued Expenses

On a monthly basis, we estimate certain expenses in an 
effort to record those expenses in the period incurred. 
Our most material estimates include domestic freight 
expenses, self-insurance costs, store-level operating 
expenses, such as property taxes and utilities, and certain 
other expenses, such as legal reserves. Our freight and 
store-level operating expenses are estimated based on 
current activity and historical trends and results. Our 
workers’ compensation and general liability insurance 
accruals are recorded based on actuarial valuations 
which are adjusted at least annually based on a review 
performed by a third-party actuary. These actuarial valu-
ations are estimates based on our historical loss develop-
ment factors. Certain other expenses are estimated and 
recorded in the periods that management becomes aware 
of them. The related accruals are adjusted as manage-
ment’s estimates change. Differences in management’s 
estimates and assumptions could result in an accrual 
materially different from the calculated accrual. Our 
experience has been that some of our estimates are too 
high and others are too low. Historically, the net total 
of these differences has not had a material effect on our 
financial condition or results of operations. Our legal 
proceedings are described in Note 4 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The outcome of litigation, 
particularly class or collective action lawsuits, is difficult 
to assess, quantify or predict.

Income Taxes

On a quarterly basis, we estimate our required income tax 
liability and assess the recoverability of our deferred tax 
assets. Our income taxes payable are estimated based on 
enacted tax rates, including estimated tax rates in states 
where our store base is growing, applied to the income 
expected to be taxed currently. Management assesses the 
recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the avail-
ability of carrybacks of future deductible amounts and 
management’s projections for future taxable income. We 
cannot guarantee that we will generate taxable income 
in future years. Historically, we have not experienced 
significant differences in our estimates of our tax accrual. 

In addition, we have a recorded liability for our 
estimate of uncertain tax positions taken or expected 
to be taken in our tax returns. Judgment is required in 
evaluating the application of federal and state tax laws, 
including relevant case law, and assessing whether it is 
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Inflation and Other Economic Factors

Our ability to provide quality merchandise at a fixed 
price and on a profitable basis may be subject to 
economic factors and influences that we cannot control. 
Consumer spending could decline because of economic 
pressures, including unemployment and rising fuel 
prices. Reductions in consumer confidence and spending 
could have an adverse effect on our sales. National or 
international events, including war or terrorism, could 
lead to disruptions in economies in the United States 
or in foreign countries. These and other factors could 
increase our merchandise costs, fuel costs and other costs 
that are critical to our operations, such as shipping and 
wage rates.

Shipping Costs. Currently, trans-Pacific shipping rates 
are negotiated with individual freight lines and are 
subject to fluctuation based on supply and demand for 
containers and current fuel costs. We can give no assur-
ances as to the final rate trends for 2012, as we are in the 
early stages of our negotiations.

Minimum Wage. In 2007, legislation was enacted that 
increased the Federal Minimum Wage from $5.15 an 
hour to $7.25 an hour over a two year period with the 
final increase being enacted in July 2009. As a result, 
our wages increased in 2009 and through the first half 
of 2010 compared with the prior year periods; however, 
we offset the increase in payroll costs through increased 
productivity and continued efficiencies in product flow to 
our stores.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 

ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various types of market risk in the 
normal course of our business, including the impact of 
interest rate changes and diesel fuel cost changes. We may 
enter into interest rate or diesel fuel swaps to manage 
exposure to interest rate and diesel fuel price changes. We 
do not enter into derivative instruments for any purpose 
other than cash flow hedging and we do not hold deriva-
tive instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We use variable-rate debt to finance certain of our opera-
tions and capital improvements. These obligations expose 
us to variability in interest payments due to changes in 
interest rates. If interest rates increase, interest expense 
increases. Conversely, if interest rates decrease, interest 
expense also decreases. We believe it is beneficial to limit 
the variability of our interest payments.

To meet this objective, we entered into derivative 
instruments in the form of interest rate swaps to manage 
fluctuations in cash flows resulting from changes in the 
variable-interest rates on a portion of our $250.0 million 
term loan. The interest rate swaps reduced the interest 
rate exposure on these variable-rate obligations. Under 
the interest rate swaps, we paid the bank at a fixed-rate 
and received variable-interest at a rate approximating 
the variable-rate on the obligation, thereby creating 
the economic equivalent of a fixed-rate obligation. We 
entered into two $75.0 million interest rate swap agree-
ments in March 2008 to manage the risk associated with 
the interest rate fluctuations on a portion of our $250.0 
million variable rate term loan. These swaps expired in 
March 2011.
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Diesel Fuel Cost Risk

In order to manage fluctuations in cash flows resulting 
from changes in diesel fuel costs, we entered into fuel 
derivative contracts with third parties.  We hedged 3.5 
million and 5.0 million gallons of diesel fuel in 2011 and 
2010, respectively.  These hedges represented approxi-
mately 31% and 39% of our total domestic truckload 
fuel needs in 2011 and 2010, respectively.  We currently 
have fuel derivative contracts to hedge 2.8 million gallons 
of diesel fuel, or approximately 41% of our domestic 
truckload fuel needs from February 2012 through 

July 2012 and 0.5 million gallons of diesel fuel, or 
approximately 16% of our domestic truckload fuel needs 
from August 2012 through October 2012.  Under these 
contracts, we pay the third party a fixed price for diesel 
fuel and receive variable diesel fuel prices at amounts 
approximating current diesel fuel costs, thereby creating 
the economic equivalent of a fixed-rate obligation.  These 
derivative contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting 
and therefore all changes in fair value for these derivatives 
are included in earnings.  The fair value of these contracts 
at January 28, 2012 was an asset of $0.6 million.

26   Dollar Tree, Inc. 



The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Dollar Tree, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dollar Tree, Inc. (the Company) as of January 28, 2012 
and January 29, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive 
income, and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three year period ended January 28, 2012. These consolidated 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended January 28, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), Dollar Tree, Inc.’s  internal control over financial reporting as of January 28, 2012, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 15, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Norfolk, Virginia
March 15, 2012
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(in millions, except per share data) 

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010

Net sales   $ 6,630.5   $ 5,882.4   $ 5,231.2 

Co st of sales, excluding non-cash beginning inventory 
adjustment    4,252.2    3,768.5    3,374.4 

Non-cash beginning inventory adjustment —    26.3 —

  Gross profit     2,378.3     2,087.6    1,856.8 

Selling, general and administrative expenses     1,596.2     1,457.6    1,344.0 

  Operating income     782.1     630.0    512.8 

Interest expense, net     2.9     5.6    5.2 

Other income, net    (0.3)    (5.5) —

  Income before income taxes     779.5     629.9    507.6 

Provision for income taxes     291.2     232.6    187.1 

Net income   $  488.3   $  397.3   $ 320.5 

Basic net income per share   $  4.06   $  3.13   $  2.39 

Diluted net income per share   $ 4.03   $  3.10   $  2.37 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(in millions, except share and per share data) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011

ASSETS

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents   $  288.3   $  311.2 

 Short-term investments —     174.8 

 Merchandise inventories, net     867.4     803.1 

 Current deferred tax assets, net     26.2     16.3 

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets     27.5     27.9 

  Total current assets     1,209.4     1,333.3 

Property, plant and equipment, net   825.3   741.1 

Goodwill   173.1   173.1 

Deferred tax assets, net   16.8   38.0 

Other assets, net   104.0   95.0 

 TOTAL ASSETS   $ 2,328.6   $ 2,380.5 

  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

 Current portion of long-term debt  $ 15.5  $ 16.5 

 Accounts payable   286.7   261.4 

 Other current liabilities   215.5   190.5 

 Income taxes payable   63.3   64.4 

  Total current liabilities   581.0   532.8 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion   250.0   250.0 

Income taxes payable, long-term   15.5   15.2 

Other liabilities   137.5   123.5 

  Total liabilities   984.0   921.5 

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders' equity:

 Co mmon stock, par value $0.01.  400,000,000 shares  
authorized, 115,582,150 and 123,393,816 shares 
issued and outstanding at January 28, 2012 
and January 29, 2011, respectively    1.1    1.2 

  Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (0.6)    (0.4)

  Retained earnings    1,344.1    1,458.2 

  Total shareholders' equity    1,344.6    1,459.0 

 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   $ 2,328.6   $ 2,380.5 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(in millions)

 Common 
 Stock 
 Shares 

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Shareholders’
Equity

Balance at January 31, 2009  136.1   $ 0.9  $  38.0  $  (2.6)  $ 1,216.9  $  1,253.2 

Net income for the year ended  
January 30, 2010 — — — —    320.5    320.5 

Other comprehensive income, net of 
income tax expense of $0.1 — — —    0.2   —    0.2 

  Total comprehensive income    320.7 

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan  0.2 —    1.4 —    3.1    4.5 

Exercise of stock options, including 
income tax benefit of $2.0  1.1 —    8.7 —    14.8    23.5 

Repurchase and retirement of shares  (6.4) —    (48.9) —   (144.2)    (193.1)

Stock-based compensation, net, including 
income tax benefit of $1.9 0.3 —    0.8 —    19.6    20.4 

Balance at January 30, 2010  131.3   0.9 —   (2.4)   1,430.7   1,429.2 

Net income for the year ended  
January 29, 2011 — — — —   397.3    397.3 

Other comprehensive income, net of 
income tax benefit of $1.3 — — —    2.0   —    2.0 

  Total comprehensive income    399.3 

Transfer from additional paid-in capital  
for Common Stock dividend —    0.4    (0.4) —   —   —

Payment for fractional shares resulting  
from Common Stock dividend — —     (0.3) —   —     (0.3)

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan  0.1 —

    
   4.4 —   —    4.4 

Exercise of stock options, including 
income tax benefit of $1.9  0.8 —    17.9 —   —    17.9 

Repurchase and retirement of shares  (9.3)   (0.1)    (44.8) —    (369.8)    (414.7)

Stock-based compensation, net,  
including tax benefit of $5.9  0.5 —    23.2 —   —    23.2 

Balance at January 29, 2011  123.4   1.2 —   (0.4)   1,458.2   1,459.0 

Net income for the year ended  
January 28, 2012 — — — —   488.3    488.3 

income tax benefit of $0.1 — — —    (0.2)   —    (0.2) 

  Total comprehensive income    488.1 

Issuance of stock under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan  0.1 —

    
   4.4 —   —    4.4 

Exercise of stock options, including 
income tax benefit of $3.0  0.4 —    9.5 —   —    9.5 

Repurchase and retirement of shares  (8.7)   (0.1)    (43.4) —    (602.4)    (645.9)

Stock-based compensation, net,  
including tax benefit of $10.8  0.4 —    29.5 —   —    29.5 

Balance at January 28, 2012  115.6  $ 1.1  $  —  $ (0.6)  $ 1,344.1  $ 1,344.6 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(in millions)

 Year Ended 

 January 28, 

2012

 January 29, 
2011

 January 30, 
2010

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income  $ 488.3  $ 397.3  $ 320.5 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  
provided by operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortization   163.9   159.7   157.8 

  Provision for deferred income taxes   10.9   (14.4)   (0.6)

  Stock-based compensation expense   31.6   28.3   21.7 

   Non-cash adjustment to beginning inventory —   26.3 —

   Other non-cash adjustments to net income   4.4   5.0   6.8 

   C hanges in assets and liabilities increasing  
(decreasing) cash and cash equivalents:

   Merchandise inventories   (64.5)   (126.7)   (4.0)

    Other assets   (1.3)   2.0   5.8 

   Accounts payable   26.9   28.1   27.0 

   Income taxes payable   (1.1)   15.2   2.0 

   Other current liabilities   25.4   (9.2)   30.5 

   Other liabilities   2.0   7.1   13.5 

    Net cash provided by operating activities   686.5   518.7   581.0 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures   (250.1)   (178.7)   (164.8)

Purchase of short-term investments   (6.0)   (157.8)   (27.8)

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments    180.8    10.8    —

Purchase of restricted investments   (16.3)   (50.9)   (37.3)

Proceeds from sale of restricted investments   5.3   52.1   17.4

Acquisition of Dollar Giant, net of cash acquired of $1.9 million —   (49.4) — 

Foreign currency gain/loss   0.2 — — 

Acquisition of favorable lease rights —   (0.2) — 

    Net cash used in investing activities   (86.1)   (374.1)   (212.5)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal payments under long-term debt and capital lease obligations   (2.0)   (15.1)   (0.4)

Payments for share repurchases   (645.9)   (417.1)   (190.7)

Proceeds from stock issued pursuant to stock-based compensation plans   10.9   20.1   25.9 

Tax benefit of exercises/vesting of equity-based compensation   13.8   7.8   3.9 

    Net cash used in financing activities   (623.2)   (404.3)   (161.3)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (0.1)   (0.7) — 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (22.9)   (260.4)   207.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   311.2   571.6   364.4 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 288.3  $ 311.2  $ 571.6 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for:

  Interest  $ 3.2  $ 6.5  $ 7.1 

  Income taxes  $ 268.3  $ 223.7  $ 183.5 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Dollar Tree, Inc. (the Company) is the leading operator 
of discount variety retail stores offering merchandise 
at the fixed price of $1.00 or less with 4,351 discount 
variety retail stores in the United States and Canada at 
January 28, 2012. Below are those accounting policies 
considered by the Company to be significant.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of Dollar Tree, Inc., and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Foreign Currency

The functional currencies of the Company’s international 
subsidiaries are primarily the local currencies of the 
countries in which the subsidiaries are located. Foreign 
currency denominated assets and liabilities are translated 
into U.S. dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the 
consolidated balance sheet date. Results of operations 
and cash flows are translated using the average exchange 
rates throughout the period. The effect of exchange 
rate fluctuations on translation of assets and liabilities 
is included as a component of shareholders’ equity in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Gains 
and losses from foreign currency transactions, which are 
included in non-operating income (expense), have not 
been significant. 

Stock Dividend

On May 26, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors 
approved a 3-for-2 stock split in the form of a 50% 
common stock dividend. New shares were distributed on 
June 24, 2010 to shareholders of record as of the close of 
business on June 10, 2010. As a result, all share and per 
share data in these consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes have been retroactively adjusted to 
reflect these dividends, each having the effect of a 3-for-2 
stock split.

Segment Information

The Company’s retail stores represent a single operating 
segment based on the way the Company manages its 
business. Operating decisions are made at the Company 
level in order to maintain a consistent retail store 
presentation. The Company’s retail stores sell similar 
products and services, use similar processes to sell those 

products and services, and sell their products and services 
to similar classes of customers. The amounts of long-
lived assets and net sales outside of the U.S. were not 
significant for any of the periods presented.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest 
to January 31. Any reference herein to “2011” or “Fiscal 
2011,” “2010” or “Fiscal 2010,” and “2009” or “Fiscal 
2009,” relates to as of or for the years ended January 
28, 2012, January 29, 2011, and January 30, 2010, 
respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at January 28, 2012 and 
January 29, 2011 includes $249.3 million and $271.4 
million, respectively, of investments primarily in money 
market securities which are valued at cost, which 
approximates fair value. For purposes of the consolidated 
statements of cash flows, the Company considers all 
highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. The majority 
of payments due from financial institutions for the settle-
ment of debit card and credit card transactions process 
within three business days, and therefore are classified as 
cash and cash equivalents. 

Short-Term Investments

At January 28, 2012 the Company held no short-term 
investments. The Company’s short-term investments at 
January 29, 2011 were $174.8 million. These investments 
consisted primarily of government-sponsored municipal 
bonds which were convertible into cash on the dates that 
the interest rates for these bonds reset, which was typi-
cally weekly or monthly, depending on the terms of the 
underlying agreement. These investments were classified 
as available for sale and were recorded at fair value, which 
approximated cost. 
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Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories at the Company’s distribu-
tion centers are stated at the lower of cost or market, 
determined on a weighted-average cost basis. Cost is 
assigned to store inventories using the retail inventory 
method on a weighted-average basis. Under the retail 
inventory method, the valuation of inventories at cost 
and the resulting gross margins are computed by applying 
a calculated cost-to-retail ratio to the retail value of 
inventories. From its inception through fiscal 2009, the 
Company used one inventory pool for this calculation. 
Because of investments over the years in retail technology 
systems, the Company was able to refine the estimate of 
inventory cost under the retail method. On January 31, 
2010, the first day of fiscal 2010, the Company began 
using approximately thirty inventory pools in its retail 
inventory calculation. As a result of this change, the 
Company recorded a non-recurring, non-cash charge to 
gross profit and a corresponding reduction in inventory, 
at cost, of approximately $26.3 million in the first quarter 
of 2010. This was a prospective change and did not 
have any effect on prior periods. This change in estimate 
to include thirty inventory pools in the retail method 
calculation is preferable to using one pool in the calcula-
tion as it gives the Company a more accurate estimate of 
cost of store level inventories.

Costs directly associated with warehousing and 
distribution are capitalized as merchandise inventories. 
Total warehousing and distribution costs capitalized into 
inventory amounted to $34.5 million and $30.8 million 
at January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follows:

Buildings 39 to 40 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 15 years

Leasehold improvements and assets held under capital 
leases are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the 
respective assets or the committed terms of the related 
leases, whichever is shorter. Amortization is included 
in “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Costs incurred related to software developed for 
internal use are capitalized and amortized generally over 
three years.

 

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but rather tested for impair-
ment at least annually. In addition, goodwill will be tested 
on an interim basis if an event or circumstance indicates 
that it is more likely than not that an impairment loss 
has been incurred. The Company performed its annual 
impairment testing in November 2011 and determined 
that no impairment loss existed. 

Other Assets, Net

Other assets, net consists primarily of restricted invest-
ments and intangible assets. Restricted investments were 
$83.6 million and $72.1 million at January 28, 2012 
and January 29, 2011, respectively and were purchased 
to collateralize long-term insurance obligations. These 
investments consist primarily of government-sponsored 
municipal bonds, similar to the Company’s short-term 
investments held at the end of fiscal 2010 and money 
market securities. These investments are classified as 
available for sale and are recorded at fair value, which 
approximates cost. Intangible assets primarily include 
favorable lease rights with finite useful lives and are 
amortized over their respective estimated useful lives. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and  

Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets and certain 
identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured 
by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future 
net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment to be recognized is measured as the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the 
fair value of the assets based on discounted cash flows or 
other readily available evidence of fair value, if any. Assets 
to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying 
amount or fair value less costs to sell. In fiscal 2011, 2010 
and 2009, the Company recorded charges of $0.9 million, 
$1.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively, to write down 
certain assets. These charges are recorded as a component 
of “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments 
to reduce its exposure to market risks from changes 
in interest rates and diesel fuel costs. By entering into 
receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate and diesel fuel 
swaps, the Company limits its exposure to changes 
in variable interest rates and diesel fuel prices. The 
Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event 
of non-performance by the counterparty to these instru-
ments but minimizes this risk by entering into transac-
tions with high quality counterparties. Interest rate or 
diesel fuel cost differentials paid or received on the swaps 
are recognized as adjustments to interest and freight 
expense, respectively, in the period earned or incurred. 
The Company formally documents all hedging relation-
ships, if applicable, and assesses hedge effectiveness both 
at inception and on an ongoing basis. The interest rate 
swaps that qualified for hedge accounting are recorded 
at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets as a component of “other liabilities”. Changes in 
the fair value of these interest rate swaps are recorded 
in “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”, 
net of tax, in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. The Company entered into diesel fuel swaps that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting. The fair values of 
these diesel fuel swaps are recorded in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets as a component of “other 
current assets”. 

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the 
amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants. As such, fair value is a market-
based measurement that should be determined based 
on assumptions that market participants would use in 
pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering 
such assumptions, a fair value hierarchy has been 
established that prioritizes the inputs used to measure 
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 –  Quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities;

Level 2 –  Quoted prices for similar instruments in active 
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active; and

Level 3 –  Unobservable inputs in which there is little or 
no market data which require the reporting 
entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
investments and diesel fuel swaps represent the financial 
assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value 
as of January 28, 2012. As required, financial assets 
and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on 
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. The Company’s assessment of 
the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement requires judgment, and may affect the 
valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their 
placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. The fair 
value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and 
restricted investments was $288.3 million and $83.6 
million, respectively at January 28, 2012. These fair 
values were determined using Level 1 measurements in 
the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the diesel fuel 
swaps was an asset of $0.6 million as of January 28, 2012. 
The fair values of the swaps were estimated using Level 2 
measurements in the fair value hierarchy. These estimates 
used discounted cash flow calculations based upon 
forward interest-rate yield and diesel cost curves. The 
curves were obtained from independent pricing services 
reflecting broker market quotes. 

The carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt 
approximates its fair value because the debt’s interest rate 
varies with market interest rates.

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair 
value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the assets and 
liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing 
basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain 
circumstances (e.g., when there is evidence of impair-
ment). The Company recorded an impairment charge 
of $0.9 million in fiscal 2011 to reduce certain store 
assets to their estimated fair value. The fair values were 
determined based on the income approach, in which the 
Company utilized internal cash flow projections over the 
life of the underlying lease agreements discounted based 
on a risk-free rate of return. These measures of fair value, 
and related inputs, are considered a Level 3 approach 
under the fair value hierarchy. There were no other 
changes related to Level 3 assets.
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Lease Accounting 

The Company leases most all of its retail locations under 
operating leases. The Company recognizes minimum rent 
expense starting when possession of the property is taken 
from the landlord, which normally includes a construc-
tion period prior to store opening. When a lease contains 
a predetermined fixed escalation of the minimum rent, 
the Company recognizes the related rent expense on a 
straight-line basis and records the difference between 
the recognized rental expense and the amounts payable 
under the lease as deferred rent. The Company also 
receives tenant allowances, which are recorded in deferred 
rent and are amortized as a reduction of rent expense 
over the term of the lease.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes sales revenue at the time a sale 
is made to its customer.

Taxes Collected

The Company reports taxes assessed by a governmental 
authority that are directly imposed on revenue-producing 
transactions (i.e., sales tax) on a net (excluded from 
revenues) basis.

Cost of Sales

The Company includes the cost of merchandise, ware-
housing and distribution costs, and certain occupancy 
costs in cost of sales.

Pre-Opening Costs

The Company expenses pre-opening costs for new, 
expanded and relocated stores, as incurred.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are 
incurred and they are included in “selling, general 
and administrative expenses” on the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations. Advertising costs 
approximated $13.8 million, $11.1 million and $8.3 
million for the years ended January 28, 2012, January 29, 
2011, and January 30, 2010, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and 
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between financial statement carrying amounts 
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in income in the period that includes the 
enactment date of such change. 

The Company includes interest and penalties in 
the provision for income tax expense and income taxes 
payable. The Company does not provide for any penalties 
associated with tax contingencies unless they are consid-
ered probable of assessment.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes all share-based payments to 
employees, including grants of employee stock options, in 
the financial statements based on their fair values. Total 
stock-based compensation expense for 2011, 2010 and 
2009 was $31.0 million, $27.9 million and $21.7 million, 
respectively. 

The Company recognizes expense related to the fair 
value of stock options and restricted stock units (RSUs) 
over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis or 
a shorter period based on the retirement eligibility of the 
grantee. The fair value of stock option grants is estimated 
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. The fair value of the RSUs is determined 
using the closing price of the Company’s common stock 
on the date of grant.

Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share has been computed by 
dividing net income by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding. Diluted net income per share 
reflects the potential dilution that could occur assuming 
the inclusion of dilutive potential shares and has been 
computed by dividing net income by the weighted 
average number of shares and dilutive potential shares 
outstanding. Dilutive potential shares include all 
outstanding stock options and unvested RSUs after 
applying the treasury stock method.
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NOTE 2—BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 

Property, plant and equipment, net, as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011 consists of the following:

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011

Land   $ 38.2   $ 35.1 

Buildings    209.8    192.3 

Leasehold improvements    783.6    706.3 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment    1,075.5    980.9 

Construction in progress    48.7    30.8 

 To tal property, plant and equipment    2,155.8    1,945.4 

Less: accumulated depreciation    1,330.5    1,204.3 

 To tal property, plant and equipment, net  $ 825.3  $ 741.1 

Depreciation expense was $164.2 million, $159.7 million and $157.8 million for the years ended January 28, 2012, 
January 29, 2011, and January 30, 2010, respectively.
 
Other Current Liabilities 

Other current liabilities as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011 consist of accrued expenses for the following:

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011

Compensation and benefits   $ 81.2   $ 76.5 

Taxes (other than income taxes)    33.6    21.2 

Insurance    31.2    29.7 

Other    69.5    63.1 

 To tal other current liabilities   $ 215.5   $ 190.5 

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities as of January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011 consist of the following:

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011

Deferred rent  $ 77.9   $ 73.0

Insurance    48.9    39.9 

Other    10.7    10.6

To tal other long-term liabilities   $ 137.5   $ 123.5 
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NOTE 3—INCOME TAXES 

Total income taxes were allocated as follows:

(in millions)

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010 

Income from continuing operations  $ 291.2  $ 232.6 $ 187.1 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  
marking derivative financial instruments to fair value    (0.1)    1.3    0.1

Stockholders’ equity, tax benefit on exercises/vesting  
of equity-based compensation    (13.8)    (7.8)    (3.9)

 $ 277.3  $ 226.1   $ 183.3 

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

(in millions)

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010 

Federal - current    240.4    215.7    160.2 

State - current    39.4    31.3    27.5 

Foreign - current    0.3 — —

 Total current    280.1    247.0    187.7 

Federal - deferred    14.9    (10.0)    (0.4)

State - deferred    0.1    (4.4)    (0.2)

Foreign - deferred    (3.9) — —

 Total deferred    11.1    (14.4)    (0.6) 

Included in current tax expense for the years ended January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 and January 30, 2010, are 
amounts related to uncertain tax positions associated with temporary differences, in accordance with ASC 740. 

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective rate follows:

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010 

Statutory tax rate   35.0%    35.0%    35.0%

 Effect of:

   Sta te and local income taxes, net of federal  
income tax benefit   3.4    3.4    3.3 

  Other, net   (1.0)    (1.5)    (1.4)

Effective tax rate   37.4%   36.9%    36.9% 

The rate reduction in “other, net” consists primarily of benefits from the resolution of tax uncertainties, interest on 
tax reserves, federal jobs credits and tax-exempt interest offset by certain nondeductible expenses and foreign taxes.

United States income taxes have not been provided on accumulated but undistributed earnings of its foreign 
subsidiaries as the company intends to permanently reinvest earnings.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are classified on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets based on the classification of the underlying 
asset or liability. Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) follow:

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 

Deferred tax assets:

 Deferred rent  $ 31.5   $ 31.4 

 Accrued expenses   31.4   25.4

 Net operating losses and credit carryforwards   9.1    6.4 

 Accrued compensation expense   27.0    22.5 

 Other   1.5    1.9 

  Total deferred tax assets   100.5    87.6 

 Valuation allowance   (3.5)    (4.8)

  Deferred tax assets, net   97.0    82.8 

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Property and equipment   (34.0)    (4.6) 

 Goodwill   (15.1)    (15.8)

 Prepaid expenses   (0.4)    (3.8)

 Inventory   (4.5)    (4.3)

  Total deferred tax liabilities   (54.0)    (28.5)

Net deferred tax asset  $ 43.0   $ 54.3 

A valuation allowance of $3.5 million, net of federal 
tax benefits, has been provided principally for certain 
state credit carryforwards and net operating loss carryfor-
wards. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, 
the Company considers whether it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred taxes will not 
be realized. Based upon the availability of carrybacks of 
future deductible amounts to the past two years’ taxable 
income and the Company’s projections for future taxable 
income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets 
are deductible, the Company believes it is more likely 
than not the remaining existing deductible temporary 
differences will reverse during periods in which carry-
backs are available or in which the Company generates 
net taxable income. 

The company is participating in the Internal Revenue 
Service (“IRS”) Compliance Assurance Program (“CAP”) 
for the 2011 fiscal year and has applied to participate for 
fiscal year 2012. This program accelerates the examination 
of key transactions with the goal of resolving any issues 
before the tax return is filed. Our federal tax returns 
have been examined and all issues have been settled 
through our fiscal 2010 tax year. In addition, several 
states completed their examination during the fiscal year. 
In general, fiscal years 2008 and forward are within the 
statute of limitations for state tax purposes. The statute of 
limitations is still open prior to 2008 for some states.

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and 
measurement attribute for a tax position taken or 
expected to be taken in a tax return. Under the guidelines 
of ASC 740, an entity should recognize a financial 
statement benefit for a tax position if it determines that it 
is more likely than not that the position will be sustained 
upon examination. 
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The balance for unrecognized tax benefits at January 
28, 2012, was $15.5 million. The total amount of unrecog-
nized tax benefits at January 28, 2012, that, if recognized, 
would affect the effective tax rate was $10.2 million (net 
of the federal tax benefit). The following is a reconciliation 
of the Company’s total gross unrecognized tax benefits for 
the year ended January 28, 2012:

(in millions)

Balance at January 29, 2011  $ 15.2 

Additions, based on tax positions 
related to current year    0.8 

Additions for tax positions of  
prior years    0.6 

Reductions for tax positions of  
prior years        —

Settlements        —

Lapses in statutes of limitations    (1.1)

Balance at January 28, 2012   $ 15.5

During fiscal 2011, the Company accrued potential 
interest of $0.4 million, related to these unrecognized 
tax benefits. No potential penalties were accrued during 
2011 related to the unrecognized tax benefits. As of 
January 28, 2012, the Company has recorded a liability 
for potential penalties and interest of $0.1 million and 
$4.1 million, respectively. 

It is possible that state tax reserves will be reduced for 
audit settlements and statute expirations within the next 
12 months. At this point it is not possible to estimate a 
range associated with the resolution of these audits.

NOTE 4—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable store operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2012  $ 452.9 

2013   401.1 

2014    337.5 

2015    264.4 

2016    182.1 

Thereafter    291.0 

 Total minimum lease payments   $ 1,929.0

The above future minimum lease payments include amounts for leases that were signed prior to January 28, 2012 for 
stores that were not open as of January 28, 2012.

Minimum rental payments for operating leases do not include contingent rentals that may be paid under certain 
store leases based on a percentage of sales in excess of stipulated amounts. Future minimum lease payments have not 
been reduced by expected future minimum sublease rentals of $1.6 million under operating leases.

Minimum and Contingent Rentals

Rental expense for store and distribution center operating leases (including payments to related parties) included in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations are as follows:

 

(in millions)

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010

Minimum rentals  $ 421.8   $ 381.5   $ 349.9 

Contingent rentals   1.8    1.4    1.0 
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Contingencies

In 2006, a former store manager filed a collective action 
against the Company in Alabama federal court. She 
claims that she and other store managers should have 
been classified as non-exempt employees under the Fair 
Labor Standards Act and received overtime compensa-
tion. The Court preliminarily allowed nationwide (except 
California) certification. At present, approximately 265 
individuals are included in the collective action. The 
Company’s motion to decertify the collective action was 
dismissed without prejudice in 2010. The Company filed 
another motion to decertify on February 29, 2012. There 
is no scheduled trial date.

In 2009, 34 plaintiffs, filed a class action Complaint 
in a federal court in Virginia, alleging gender pay and 
promotion discrimination under Title VII. In 2010, the 
case was dismissed with prejudice. Plaintiffs appealed 
to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. 
The appeal has been fully briefed by the parties and oral 
arguments were conducted in January 2012. The parties 
await a decision of the appellate court which is expected 
by late spring or summer of 2012.

In April 2011, a former assistant store manager, on 
behalf of himself and those similarly situated, instituted 
a class action in a California state court primarily alleging 
a failure by the Company to provide meal breaks, to 
compensate for all hours worked, and to pay overtime 
compensation. The Company removed the case to federal 
court which denied Plaintiffs’ motion for remand of the 
case to state court. The case presently awaits a scheduling 
order. There is no trial date.

In June 2011, Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. and various 
of its affiliates instituted suit in federal court in Florida 
alleging that the Company, in approximately 48 shopping 
centers in the state of Florida and five other states where 
Dollar Tree and Winn-Dixie are both tenants, is selling 
goods and products in Dollar Tree stores in violation of 
an exclusive right of Winn-Dixie to sell and distribute 
such items. It seeks both monetary damages and injunc-
tive relief. At approximately the same time, Winn-Dixie 
also sued Dollar General, Inc. and Big Lots, Inc. making 
essentially the same allegations against them and seeking 
the same relief. The court consolidated the three cases 
and they are set for trial on May 7, 2012.

In the summer and fall of 2011 collective action 
lawsuits were filed against the Company in six federal 
courts by different assistant store managers, each alleging 
he or she was forced to work off the clock in violation 
of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The suits were filed 
in Georgia, Colorado, Florida, Michigan, Illinois, and 
Maryland. The Maryland case has since been dismissed. 

Related Parties

The Company leased properties for six of its stores from 
partnerships owned by related parties. The total rental 
payments related to these leases were $0.5 million for 
each of the years ended January 28, 2012, January 29, 
2011, and January 30, 2010, respectively. Total future 
commitments under the five remaining related party 
leases are $1.7 million.

Freight Services

The Company has contracted outbound freight services 
from various contract carriers with contracts expiring 
through fiscal 2014. The total amount of these commit-
ments is approximately $222.3 million, of which approxi-
mately $143.3 million is committed in 2012, $58.6 
million in 2013 and $20.4 million is committed in 2014.

 
Technology Assets

The Company has commitments totaling approximately 
$8.9 million to purchase primarily store technology 
assets for its stores during 2012.

Telecom Contracts

The Company has contracted for telecommunication 
services with contracts expiring in 2014. The total amount 
of these commitments is approximately $3.3 million.

Letters of Credit 

The Company is a party to two Letter of Credit 
Reimbursement and Security Agreements providing 
$110.0 million and $75.0 million, respectively for letters 
of credit. Letters of credit under both of these agree-
ments are generally issued for the routine purchase of 
imported merchandise and approximately $139.5 million 
was committed to these letters of credit at January 28, 
2012. As discussed in Note 5, the Company also has 
$150.0 million of available letters of credit included in 
the $550.0 million Unsecured Credit Agreement (the 
Agreement) entered into in 2008. As of January 28, 
2012, there were no letters of credit committed under the 
Agreement. 

The Company also has approximately $28.7 million 
in stand-by letters of credit that serve as collateral for its 
self-insurance programs and expire in fiscal 2012. 

Surety Bonds

The Company has issued various surety bonds that 
primarily serve as collateral for utility payments at the 
Company’s stores. The total amount of the commitment 
is approximately $2.5 million, which is committed 
through various dates through fiscal 2013. 
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NOTE 5—LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt at January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011 consists of the following:

(in millions) January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011

$550.0 million Unsecured Credit Agreement, interest payable 
monthly at LIBOR, plus 0.50%, which was 0.77% at 
January 28, 2012, principal payable upon  
expiration of the facility in February 2013  $ 250.0   $ 250.0 

Demand Revenue Bonds, interest payable monthly at a  
variable rate which was 0.27% at January 28, 2012,  
principal payable on demand, maturing June 2018   15.5    16.5 

Total long-term debt  $ 265.5   $ 266.5 

  Less current portion   15.5    16.5 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion  $ 250.0   $ 250.0 
  
Maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 2012 – $15.5 million and 2013 – $250.0 million.

Unsecured Credit Agreement

In 2008, the Company entered into the Agreement 
which provides for a $300.0 million revolving line of 
credit, including up to $150.0 million in available letters 
of credit, and a $250.0 million term loan. The interest 
rate on the facility is based, at the Company’s option, on 
a LIBOR rate, plus a margin, or an alternate base rate, 
plus a margin. The revolving line of credit also bears a 
facilities fee, calculated as a percentage, as defined, of 
the amount available under the line of credit, payable 

In all of the remaining cases, plaintiffs also assert various 
state law claims for which they seek class treatment. The 
Georgia suit seeks statewide class certification for those 
assistant managers similarly situated during the relevant 
time periods and the Florida, Colorado, Michigan and 
Illinois cases seek nationwide certifications for those 
assistant store managers similarly situated during the 
relevant time periods. The Illinois case also includes 
a purported class of all other hourly store associates, 
making the same allegations on their behalf. The 
Company has commenced its investigation and has filed 
motions to dismiss and motions to transfer venue to the 
Eastern District of Virginia in all cases. No rulings on 
these motions have been made to date. The Plaintiffs 
filed a motion with the federal court Multi-District 
Litigation Panel to consolidate all these and other related 
cases which motion was denied. To date, the only cases 

in which class certification motions have been filed is in 
the Illinois and Colorado actions. None of the cases have 
been assigned a trial date.

The Company will vigorously defend itself in these 
matters. The Company does not believe that any of 
these matters will, individually or in the aggregate, have 
a material effect on its business or financial condition. 
The Company cannot give assurance, however, that one 
or more of these lawsuits will not have a material effect 
on its results of operations for the period in which they 
are resolved. Based on the information available to the 
Company, including the amount of time remaining before 
trial, the results of discovery and the judgment of internal 
and external counsel, the Company is unable to express 
an opinion as to the outcome of those matters which are 
not settled and cannot estimate a potential range of loss 
on the outstanding matters.

quarterly. The term loan is due and payable in full at the 
five year maturity date of the Agreement. The Agreement 
also bears an administrative fee payable annually. The 
Agreement, among other things, requires the maintenance 
of certain specified financial ratios, restricts the payment 
of certain distributions and prohibits the incurrence of 
certain new indebtedness. As of January 28, 2012, the 
Company had the $250.0 million term loan outstanding 
under the Agreement and no amounts outstanding under 
the $300.0 million revolving line of credit. 
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NOTE 7—SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share. No preferred shares 
are issued and outstanding at January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011.

Net Income Per Share 

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share:

(in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended

January 28, 2012 January 29, 2011 January 30, 2010

Basic net income per share:

Net income  $  488.3  $  397.3  $  320.5 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding     120.3     127.1     134.1 

Basic net income per share  $  4.06  $  3.13  $  2.39 

Diluted net income per share:

Net income  $  488.3  $  397.3  $  320.5

Weighted average number of shares outstanding    120.3    127.1    134.1 

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock  
(as determined by applying the treasury stock method)    0.9    0.9    0.9 

Weighted average number of shares and dilutive 
potential shares outstanding    121.2    128.0    135.0 

Diluted net income per share  $  4.03  $  3.10  $  2.37 

Demand Revenue Bonds

In 1998, the Company entered into an unsecured Loan 
Agreement with the Mississippi Business Finance 
Corporation (MBFC) under which the MBFC issued 
Taxable Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (the 
Bonds) in an aggregate principal amount of $19.0 
million to finance the acquisition, construction, and 
installation of land, buildings, machinery and equipment 
for the Company’s distribution facility in Olive Branch, 
Mississippi. The Bonds do not contain a prepayment 
penalty as long as the interest rate remains variable. The 
Bonds contain a demand provision and, therefore, are 
classified as current liabilities.

NOTE 6—DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Hedging Derivatives

In 2008, the Company entered into two $75.0 million 
interest rate swap agreements. These interest rate swaps 
were used to manage the risk associated with interest 
rate fluctuations on a portion of the Company’s variable 
rate debt. Under these agreements, the Company paid 
interest to financial institutions at a fixed rate of 2.8%. In 
exchange, the financial institutions paid the Company at 
a variable rate, which equals the variable rate on the debt, 
excluding the credit spread. These swaps qualified for 
hedge accounting treatment and expired in March 2011.

In order to manage fluctuations in cash flows 
resulting from changes in diesel fuel costs, the Company 
entered into fuel derivative contracts with third parties. 
The Company hedged 3.5 million and 5.0 million gallons 
of diesel fuel in 2011 and 2010, respectively. These 
hedges represented approximately 31% and 39% of the 
total domestic truckload fuel needs in 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. The Company currently has fuel derivative 
contracts to hedge 2.8 million gallons of diesel fuel, or 
approximately 41% of the Company’s domestic truckload 
fuel needs from February 2012 through July 2012 and 0.5 
million gallons of diesel fuel, or approximately 16% of the 
Company’s domestic truckload fuel needs from August 
2012 through October 2012. Under these contracts, the 
Company pays the third party a fixed price for diesel 
fuel and receives variable diesel fuel prices at amounts 
approximating current diesel fuel costs, thereby creating 
the economic equivalent of a fixed-rate obligation. These 
derivative contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting 
and therefore all changes in fair value for these derivatives 
are included under “Other income, net” on the accom-
panying consolidated statements of operations. The fair 
value of these contracts at January 28, 2012 was an asset 
of $0.6 million.
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At January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011 and 
January 30, 2010, substantially all of the stock options 
outstanding were included in the calculation of the 
weighted average number of shares and dilutive potential 
shares outstanding.

Share Repurchase Programs

The Company repurchases shares on the open market 
and under Accelerated Share Repurchase agreements.

On the open market, the Company repurchased 
2.6 million shares for $145.9 million in fiscal 2011. The 
Company repurchased 4.3 million shares for $214.7 
million in fiscal 2010. The Company repurchased 
6.4 million shares for $193.1 million in fiscal 2009. 
At January 28, 2012, the Company had $1.2 billion 
remaining under Board authorization. 

On November 21, 2011, the Company entered 
into an agreement to repurchase $300.0 million of the 
Company’s common shares under a “collared” Accelerated 
Share Repurchase Agreement (ASR). Under this agree-
ment, the Company initially received 3.4 million shares 
through December 13, 2011, representing the minimum 
number of shares to be received based on a calculation 
using the “cap” or high-end of the price range of the “collar.”  
The Company may receive a maximum of 3.8 million 
shares under the agreement. The number of shares is 
determined based on the weighted average market price 
of the Company’s common stock, less a discount, during 
a specified period of time. The weighted average market 
price through January 28, 2012 as defined in the “collared” 
agreement was $83.27. Therefore, if the transaction 
had settled on January 28, 2012, the Company would 
have received an additional 0.4 million shares under the 
“collared” agreement. Based on the applicable accounting 
literature, these additional shares were not included in the 
weighted average diluted earnings per share calculation 
because their effect would be antidilutive. Based on the 
hedge period reference price of $80.37, there is approxi-
mately $27.3 million of the $300.0 million related to the 
agreement, as of January 28, 2012, that is recorded as a 
reduction to shareholders’ equity pending final settlement 
of the agreement. The ASR is expected to be completed in 
the first quarter of 2012.

On August 24, 2011, the Company entered into an 
agreement to repurchase $200.0 million of the Company’s 
common shares under a “collared” ASR. Under this agree-
ment, the Company initially received 2.6 million shares 
through September 2, 2011, representing the minimum 
number of shares to be received based on a calculation 
using the “cap” or high-end of the price range of the “collar.”  
The ASR concluded on November 15, 2011 and the 

Company received an additional 0.1 million shares under 
the “collared” agreement resulting in 2.7 million total 
shares being repurchased under this ASR. The number 
of shares is determined based on the weighted average 
market price of the Company’s common stock, less a 
discount, during a specified period of time.

On March 19, 2010, the Company entered into 
an agreement to repurchase $200.0 million of the 
Company’s common shares under a “collared” ASR. 
Under this agreement, the Company initially received 
4.6 million shares through March 31, 2010, representing 
the minimum number of shares to be received based on a 
calculation using the “cap” or high-end of the price range 
of the collar. The ASR concluded on August 6, 2010 and 
the Company received an additional 0.4 million shares 
under the “collared” agreement resulting in 5.0 million 
total shares being repurchased under this ASR. The 
number of shares is determined based on the weighted 
average market price of the Company’s common stock, 
less a discount, during a specified period of time.

NOTE 8—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Profit Sharing and 401(k) Retirement Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution profit 
sharing and 401(k) plan which is available to all employees 
over 21 years of age who have completed one year of 
service in which they have worked at least 1,000 hours. 
Eligible employees may make elective salary deferrals.  
The Company may make contributions at its discretion.

Contributions to and reimbursements by the Company 
of expenses of the plan included in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations were as follows:

Year Ended January 28, 2012 $37.9 million

Year Ended January 29, 2011 35.1 million
Year Ended January 30, 2010 30.4 million

Eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 2007 
are immediately vested in the Company’s profit sharing 
contributions. Eligible employees hired on or subsequent 
to January 1, 2007 vest in the Company’s profit sharing 
contributions based on the following schedule:

• 20% after two years of service
• 40% after three years of service
• 60% after four years of service
• 100% after five years of service

All eligible employees are immediately vested in any 
Company match contributions under the 401(k) portion 
of the plan. 
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Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a deferred compensation plan which 
provides certain officers and executives the ability to defer a 
portion of their base compensation and bonuses and invest 
their deferred amounts. The plan is a nonqualified plan 
and the Company may make discretionary contributions. 
The deferred amounts and earnings thereon are payable 
to participants, or designated beneficiaries, at specified 
future dates, or upon retirement or death. Total cumulative 
participant deferrals were approximately $3.3 million and 
$2.8 million, respectively, at January 28, 2012 and January 
29, 2011, and are included in “other liabilities” on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The related 
assets are included in “other assets, net” on the accompa-
nying consolidated balance sheets. The Company did not 
make any discretionary contributions in the years ended 
January 28, 2012, January 29, 2011, or January 30, 2010. 

NOTE 9—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

At January 28, 2012, the Company has nine stock-based 
compensation plans. Each plan and the accounting 
method are described below.

Fixed Stock Option Compensation Plans

Under the Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (SOP), the 
Company granted options to its employees for 1,570,896 
shares of Common Stock in 1993 and 1,572,434 shares 
in 1994. Options granted under the SOP have an exercise 
price of $0.57 and are fully vested at the date of grant.

Under the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (SIP), the 
Company granted options to its employees for the 
purchase of up to 18.9 million shares of Common Stock. 
The exercise price of each option equaled the market price 
of the Company’s stock at the date of grant, unless a higher 
price was established by the Board of Directors, and an 
option’s maximum term is 10 years. Options granted under 
the SIP generally vested over a three-year period. This 
plan was terminated on July 1, 2003 and replaced with the 
Company’s 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (EIP). 

Under the EIP, the Company granted up to 9.0 
million shares of its Common Stock, plus any shares 
available for future awards under the SIP, to the 
Company’s employees, including executive officers 
and independent contractors. The EIP permitted the 
Company to grant equity awards in the form of stock 
options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock. 
The exercise price of each stock option granted equaled 
the market price of the Company’s stock at the date 
of grant. The options generally vest over a three-year 
period and have a maximum term of 10 years. This plan 
was terminated on June 16, 2011 and replaced with the 
Company’s Omnibus Incentive Plan (Omnibus Plan).

The Executive Officer Equity Incentive Plan (EOEP) 
was available only to the Chief Executive Officer and 
certain other executive officers. These officers no longer 
received awards under the EIP. The EOEP allowed the 
Company to grant the same type of equity awards as the 
EIP. These awards generally vest over a three-year period, 
with a maximum term of 10 years. This plan was termi-
nated on June 16, 2011 and replaced with the Company’s 
Omnibus Incentive Plan (Omnibus Plan).

Stock appreciation rights may be awarded alone or in 
tandem with stock options. When the stock appreciation 
rights are exercisable, the holder may surrender all or a 
portion of the unexercised stock appreciation right and 
receive in exchange an amount equal to the excess of 
the fair market value at the date of exercise over the fair 
market value at the date of the grant. No stock apprecia-
tion rights have been granted to date.

Any restricted stock or RSUs awarded are subject to 
certain general restrictions. The restricted stock shares or 
units may not be sold, transferred, pledged or disposed 
of until the restrictions on the shares or units have lapsed 
or have been removed under the provisions of the plan. 
In addition, if a holder of restricted shares or units ceases 
to be employed by the Company, any shares or units in 
which the restrictions have not lapsed will be forfeited. 

The 2003 Non-Employee Director Stock Option 
Plan (NEDP) provided non-qualified stock options 
to non-employee members of the Company’s Board of 
Directors. The stock options were functionally equivalent 
to such options issued under the EIP discussed above. The 
exercise price of each stock option granted equaled the 
closing market price of the Company’s stock on the date of 
grant. The options generally vested immediately. This plan 
was terminated on June 16, 2011 and replaced with the 
Company’s Omnibus Incentive Plan (Omnibus Plan).

The 2003 Director Deferred Compensation Plan 
permits any of the Company’s directors who receive a 
retainer or other fees for Board or Board committee 
service to defer all or a portion of such fees until a future 
date, at which time they may be paid in cash or shares of 
the Company’s common stock, or receive all or a portion 
of such fees in non-statutory stock options. Deferred fees 
that are paid out in cash will earn interest at the 30-year 
Treasury Bond Rate. If a director elects to be paid in 
common stock, the number of shares will be determined 
by dividing the deferred fee amount by the closing market 
price of a share of the Company’s common stock on 
the date of deferral. The number of options issued to a 
director will equal the deferred fee amount divided by 
33% of the price of a share of the Company’s common 
stock. The exercise price will equal the fair market value 
of the Company’s common stock at the date the option is 
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issued. The options are fully vested when issued and have 
a term of 10 years.

Under the Omnibus Plan, the Company may grant up 
to 2.0 million shares of its Common Stock, plus any shares 
available for future awards under the EIP, EOEP, or NEDP 
plans, to the Company’s employees, including executive 
officers and independent contractors. The Omnibus Plan 
permits the Company to grant equity awards in the form of 
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted  
stock units, performance bonuses, performance units,  
non-employee director stock options and other equity-
related awards. These awards generally vest over a three-
year period with a maximum term of 10 years.

Restricted Stock

The Company granted 0.4 million, 0.6 million and 0.6 
million service-based RSUs, net of forfeitures in 2011, 
2010 and 2009, respectively, from the EIP and the EOEP 
to the Company’s employees and officers.  The fair value 
of all of these RSUs is being expensed ratably over the 
three-year vesting periods, or a shorter period based on 
the retirement eligibility of the grantee.  The fair value 
was determined using the Company’s closing stock price 
on the date of grant.  The Company recognized $19.2 
million, $17.3 million and $12.8 million of expense 
related to these RSUs during 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  As of January 28, 2012, there was approxi-
mately $23.0 million of total unrecognized compensation 
expense related to these RSUs which is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 21 months.  

In 2011, the Company granted 0.1 million RSUs 
from the EIP and the EOEP to certain officers of the 
Company, contingent on the Company meeting certain 
performance targets in 2011 and future service of these 
officers through March 2014.  The Company met these 
performance targets in fiscal 2011; therefore, the fair value 
of these RSUs of $7.3 million is being expensed over the 
service period or a shorter period based on the retirement 
eligibility of the grantee.  The Company recognized 
$5.4 million of expense related to these RSUs in 2011.  
The fair value of these RSUs was determined using the 
Company’s closing stock price on the grant date.

In 2010, the Company granted 0.2 million RSUs 
from the EIP and the EOEP to certain officers of the 
Company, contingent on the Company meeting certain 
performance targets in 2010 and future service of these 
officers through March 2013.  The Company met these 
performance targets in fiscal 2010; therefore, the fair 
value of these RSUs of $7.8 million is being expensed 
over the service period or a shorter period based on 
the retirement eligibility of the grantee.  The Company 

recognized $1.8 million and $4.8 million of expense 
related to these RSUs in 2011 and 2010, respectively.  
The fair value of these RSUs was determined using the 
Company’s closing stock price on the grant date.

In 2009, the Company granted 0.2 million RSUs 
from the EIP and the EOEP to certain officers of the 
Company, contingent on the Company meeting certain 
performance targets in 2009 and future service of these 
officers through March 2012.  The Company met these 
performance targets in fiscal 2009; therefore, the fair value 
of these RSUs of $6.4 million is being expensed over the 
service period or a shorter period based on the retirement 
eligibility of the grantee.  The Company recognized $1.0 
million, $2.6 million and $2.7 million of expense related 
to these RSUs in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
The fair value of these RSUs was determined using the 
Company’s closing stock price on the grant date.

In 2011, the Company granted RSUs with a target 
value of $0.7 million from the Omnibus Plan to certain 
officers of the Company.  Each officer has the opportunity 
to earn an amount between zero percent (0%) and two 
hundred percent (200%) of the individual target award 
contingent on the Company meeting certain performance 
targets for the period beginning on January 30, 2011 
and ending on February 1, 2014.  Providing the vesting 
conditions are satisfied, the awards will vest at the end 
of the performance period.  The Company recognized 
$0.4 million of expense related on these RSUs in 2011.  
The fair value of these RSUs was determined using the 
Company’s closing stock price on the grant date.

The following table summarizes the status of  
RSUs as of January 28, 2012, and changes during the 
year then ended:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value

Nonvested at January 29, 2011  1,444,761  $ 33.88 

Granted  534,030    56.99 

Vested  (675,980)    30.94 

Forfeited  (47,086)    42.82 

Nonvested at January 28, 2012  1,255,725  $ 44.97 

In connection with the vesting of RSUs in 2011, 2010 
and 2009, certain employees elected to receive shares net 
of minimum statutory tax withholding amounts which 
totaled $13.2 million, $11.1 million and $4.8 million, 
respectively.  The total fair value of the restricted shares 
vested during the years ended January 28, 2012, January 
29, 2011 and January 30, 2010 was $20.9 million, $19.1 
million and $9.6 million, respectively.
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The following tables summarize the Company’s various option plans and information about options outstanding at 
January 28, 2012 and changes during the year then ended. 

Stock Option Activity

January 28, 2012

Shares

Weighted
Average  

Per Share
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value 

(in millions)

Outstanding, beginning of period  1,022,071  $ 19.16 

Granted  7,639   69.41 

Exercised  (355,640)   18.40 

Forfeited  (18,517)   14.31 

Outstanding, end of period  655,553  $ 20.29    3.6   $ 13.3 

Options vested and expected to vest  
at January 28, 2012  655,553   $ 20.29    3.6   $ 13.3 

Options exercisable at end of period   630,554   $ 19.97    3.5   $ 40.8 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Options
Outstanding

at January 28,
2012

Weighted 
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

Weighted 
Average
Exercise 

Price

Options
Exercisable

at January 28,
2012

Weighted 
Average
Exercise 

Price

$0.57  921 N/A   $  0.57  921  $ 0.57 

$0.58 to $14.18  100,419  1.1     13.35  100,419   13.35 

$14.19 to $19.86  311,356  3.8      17.50  311,356   17.50 

$19.87 to $29.04  219,231  3.7      24.26  194,232   23.70 

$29.05 to $32.24  5,525  7.8      32.22  5,525   32.22 

$32.25 to $56.08  10,462  8.6      46.52  10,462   46.52 

$56.09 to $84.64  7,639  9.5      69.41  7,639    69.41 

$0.57 to $84.64  655,553  3.6    $  20.29  630,554   $ 19.97

The intrinsic value of options exercised during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $16.4 million,  
$16.0 million and $11.0 million, respectively.

Stock Options 

In 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company granted less than 
0.1 million service based stock options from the EIP, 
EOP and the NEDP, respectively.  The fair value of all of 
these options is being expensed ratably over the three-
year vesting periods, or a shorter period based on the 

retirement eligibility of the grantee.  All options granted 
to directors vest immediately and are expensed on the 
grant date.  During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company 
recognized $1.1 million, $2.3 million and $3.7 million, 
respectively of expense related to service-based stock 
option grants. 
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the Dollar Tree, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan (ESPP), the Company is authorized to issue up to 
2,639,063 shares of common stock to eligible employees. 
Under the terms of the ESPP, employees can choose to 
have up to 10% of their annual base earnings withheld 
to purchase the Company’s common stock. The purchase 
price of the stock is 85% of the lower of the price at the 
beginning or the end of the quarterly offering period. 
Under the ESPP, the Company has sold 2,219,369 shares 
as of January 28, 2012.

The fair value of the employees’ purchase rights is 
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following weighted 
average assumptions:

Fiscal  

2011

Fiscal  
2010

Fiscal 
2009

Expected term 3 months 3 months 3 months

Expected volatility 12.6% 13.2% 17.4%

Annual dividend yield — — — 

Risk free interest rate 0.1% 0.1% 1.8%

The weighted average per share fair value of those 
purchase rights granted in 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 
$10.43, $6.59 and $5.19, respectively. Total expense 
recognized for these purchase rights was $0.9 million in 
each of 2011, 2010 and 2009. 

NOTE 10 – ACQUISITION

On November 15, 2010, the Company completed its 
acquisition of 86 Dollar Giant stores, located in the 
Canadian provinces of British Columbia, Ontario, 
Alberta and Saskatchewan. These stores offer a wide 
assortment of quality general merchandise, contemporary 
seasonal goods and everyday consumables, all priced at 
$1.25 (CAD) or less. This is the Company’s first expan-
sion of its retail operations outside of the United States 
and provides the Company with a proven management 
team and distribution network as well as additional 
potential store growth in a new market.

The Company paid approximately $51.3 million 
including the assumption of certain liabilities. The results 
of Dollar Giant store operations are included in the 
Company’s financial statements since the acquisition date 
and did not have a significant impact on the Company’s 
operating results in 2011 or 2010. This acquisition is 
immaterial to the Company’s operations as a whole and 
therefore no proforma disclosure of financial information 
has been presented. The following table summarizes the 
final allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the 
exchange rate in effect at the date of purchase.

(in millions)

Cash  $ 1.9 

Inventory    22.8 

Other current assets   3.4 

Property and equipment   10.1 

Goodwill   39.9 

Other intangibles   3.9 

Debt    (13.8)

Ac counts payable and accrued liabilities    (16.9)

  $ 51.3 

Goodwill related to this acquisition is presented in 
the consolidated balance sheet at the exchange rate in 
effect at January 28, 2012 and January 29, 2011; however, 
the opening balance sheet and resulting goodwill and 
acquired intangible assets were recorded based on the 
exchange rate in effect at the acquisition date.

2011 Annual Report   47



NOTE 11—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following table sets forth certain items from the Company’s unaudited consolidated statements of operations for 
each quarter of fiscal year 2011 and 2010. The unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited 
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this report and includes all adjustments, consisting only of 
normal recurring adjustments, which management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the financial data shown. 
The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year or for any future period.

First 
  Quarter(1)

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal 2011:

Net sales   $ 1,545.9   $ 1,542.4   $ 1,596.6   $ 1,945.6 

Gross profit   $ 540.8   $ 542.4   $ 560.6   $ 734.5 

Operating income   $ 161.7   $ 153.5   $ 164.9   $ 302.0 

Net income   $ 101.0   $ 94.9   $ 104.5   $ 187.9 

Diluted net income per share   $ 0.82   $ 0.77   $ 0.87   $ 1.60 

Stores open at end of quarter    4,177    4,242    4,335    4,351 

Comparable store net sales change   7.1%   4.7%   4.8%   7.3%

Fiscal 2010:

Net sales  $ 1,352.6  $ 1,377.9  $ 1,426.6  $ 1,725.3 

Gross profit  $ 450.2  $ 483.5  $ 506.0  $ 647.9 

Operating income  $ 102.6  $ 127.8  $ 140.9  $ 258.7 

Net income  $ 63.6  $ 78.0  $ 93.2  $ 162.5 

Diluted net income per share  $ 0.49  $ 0.61  $ 0.73  $ 1.29 

Stores open at end of quarter   3,874    3,925    4,009   4,101 

Comparable store net sales change   6.5%   6.7%   8.7%   3.9%

(1) Easter was observed on April 24, 2011 and April 4, 2010
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Stock Listing
Dollar Tree’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global 

Select Market. The Company’s common stock has been traded 

on NASDAQ under the symbol “DLTR” since our initial public 

offering on March 6, 1995.

The following table gives the high and low sales prices of our 

common stock for the fiscal years 2011 and 2010, restated to 

reflect a 3-for-2 stock split effected as a stock dividend in  

June 2010.

Stock Price
HIGH LOW

2011
First Quarter $58.50 $48.51
Second Quarter   70.54 57.64
Third Quarter 82.49 60.00
Fourth Quarter 86.64 72.08

2010
First Quarter $41.79 $31.33

Second Quarter   45.12 38.40

Third Quarter 52.62 40.60

Fourth Quarter 57.99 50.09

Annual Meeting
You are cordially invited to attend our Annual Meeting of 

Shareholders, which will be held at 10:00 a.m. on Thursday,  

June 14, 2012, at The Founders Inn, 5641 Indian River Road,  

Virginia Beach, VA 23464.

Fiscal 2012 Earnings Release Calendar*
First quarter, May 17

Second quarter, August 16

Third quarter, November 15

Fourth quarter, February 27, 2013

*Dates are subject to change.

Investors’ Inquiries
Requests for interim and annual reports, Forms 10-K, or more 

information should be directed to:

Investor Relations

Dollar Tree, Inc.

500 Volvo Parkway

Chesapeake, VA 23320

(757) 321-5000

Or from the Investor Relations section of our Company web site: 

www.DollarTreeinfo.com
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